Prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics in renal transplant recipients

Ragnhild Kristine Heier Skauby

Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor (PhD)

Department of Medical Biochemistry and Department of Pharmacology Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, Oslo, Norway



Institute of Clinical Medicine

Faculty of Medicine

University of Oslo

© Ragnhild Kristine Heier Skauby, 2022

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-8377-967-7

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.

The greater the diversity, the greater the perfection.

Thomas Berry (1914-2009)

Table of Contents

ACKN	OWLED	GEMENTS	VIII
ABBRI	EVIATIO	ONS	X
DEFIN	ITIONS		XI
Publi	CATION	NS INCLUDED	XII
ABSTR	RACT		XIII
1.	INTRO	DDUCTION	1
	1.1	RENAL TRANSPLANTATION	1
	1.2	IMMUNOLOGY IN ALLOGRAFT TRANSPLANTATION	4
	1.3	THE IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE PROTOCOL IN RENAL TRANSPLANTATION	6
	1.4	GLUCOCORTICOIDS	7
		1.4.1 Mechanisms of action	9
		1.4.2 Adverse effects	11
	1.5	GLUCOCORTICOID WITHDRAWAL OR AVOIDANCE IN RENAL TRANSPLANTATIO	N13
	1.6	PHARMACOKINETIC PRINCIPLES	15
		1.6.1 Absorption	15
		1.6.2 Distribution	15
		1.6.3 Elimination	16
	1.7	PREDNISOLONE AND PREDNISONE	18
		1.7.1 Interconversion between active and inactive glucocorticoids	18
		1.7.2 Pharmacokinetics	20
	1.8	THERAPEUTIC DRUG MONITORING	23
	1.9	THERAPEUTIC DRUG MONITORING IN RENAL TRANSPLANTATION	25
2.	AIMS	OF THE STUDY	26
	2.1	GENERAL AIM	26
	2.2	SPECIFIC AIMS	26

3.	Мат	MATERIALS AND METHODS2'		
	3.1	MATERIALS		
		3.1.1 Paper I		
		3.1.2 Paper II		
		3.1.3 Paper III		
	3.2	LABORATORY METHODS		
		3.2.1 Measurements of drug concentrations		
		3.2.2 Genetic markers in whole blood		
	3.3	PHARMACOKINETIC ANALYSIS		
	3.4	STATISTICS AND DATA ANALYSIS		
		3.4.1 Missing data/secondary exclusions		
	3.5	ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS		
4.	SUM	SUMMARY OF RESULTS		
	4.1	PAPER I		
	4.2	PAPER II		
	4.3	PAPER III		
5.	GEN	ERAL DISCUSSION		
	5.1	METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS		
	5.2	DISCUSSION OF THE RESULTS		
		5.2.1 Prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics in a pediatric renal		
		transplant recipient population (Paper I)		
		5.2.2 Prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics in an adult renal		
		transplant recipient population (Paper II)		
		<i>5.2.3</i> The relative importance of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone <i>in vitro</i> (Paper III)		
		5.2.4 Variability in prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics		
		5.2.5 Is there a potential for individualized dosing of prednisolone in solid		
		organ transplantation?		

6.	CONCLUSIONS	
7.	FUTURE PERSPECTIVES:	63
8.	References	64

Acknowledgements

The present work was carried out at the Department of Pharmacology and Medical Biochemistry, Oslo University Hospital, in collaboration with the Department of Pediatrics at Oslo University Hospital and the Department of Pharmacy, University of Oslo.

First and foremost, I am deeply grateful to my principal supervisor, Stein Bergan, for giving me the opportunity to take on this project. By sharing your extensive knowledge and expertise, you have provided me with a basic understanding of scientific principles. Your inspiring ideas and extraordinary ability to see possibilities rather than limitations have also taught me to look for a broader perspective, for which I am even more thankful. Thank you for your friendliness, encouragement and patient support - especially at the times when the road seemed long and winding.

To my co-supervisor Anna Bjerre: thank you for all your help with patient recruitment, for academic discussions during data analysis and for your swift responses in the writing process. Thank you for introducing me to the field of pediatric nephrology, and for inviting me to work with you and your colleagues the pediatric department. You are great at bringing people together across medical specialities! I would also like to thank my other co-supervisors, Ellen Ruud, Lars Mørkrid and Olav Klingenberg for their contributions to this thesis.

To Nils Tore Vethe: though it was never formalized, you have basically acted as a co-supervisor through this whole research period. Your answers to my questions regarding laboratory techniques, HPLC-MSxMS analysis and interpretation of data have always been thorough and understandable, and you have contributed substantially with ideas and constructive feedback to all three papers and the thesis itself, for which I am very grateful. A warm thank you!

To Hege Christensen: Thank you for your excellent lectures that enabled me to understand the basics of pharmacokinetics. Your positivity and scientific enthusiasm made those experimental days at Dpt. of Pharmacy a pure joy! Thank you for fun and interesting discussions, in both academic and non-academic disciplines. Thanks also to Markus Herberg Hovd and Veronica Krogstad at Dpt. of Pharmacy for your warm welcome, for laboratory help and good discussions.

I want express my gratitude to all coauthors for their significant contributions and constructive feedback to the papers: Anders Andersen and Anja Svarstad for your expertise in HPLC-MSxMS and genetics, respectively. Sara Bremer, Ingjerd Sæves, Anders Åsberg and Karsten Midtvedt for inspiring ideas and valuable discussions, Marthe Theie for data collection, Rolf Klaasen for help with figures.

A warm thank you to all the laboratory engineers at Section of Pharmacology, Rikshospitalet: your helpfulness improved my laboratory skills significantly.

I would like to extend my gratitude to the Heads of Department of Medical Biochemistry during these years for providing good research facilities, and to the Institute of Clinical Medicine, Oslo University Hospital, for giving me the opportunity to be a PhD student. Especially thank you to Tor Arne Hagve, who gave me the opportunity to be a residence doctor in 2006. I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to all the patients who participated in this project.

To my always supportive parents, my extended family and friends: thank you for all your encouragement and love. I really look forward to see more of you in the future! Dear Ingebjørg: a heartfelt thank you for decades with invaluable morning runs and conversations, especially during this period of research. No problem is so big or so complicated that it can't be resolved while running with you!

To my beloved son and daughter, Magnus & Tuva: life with you is fun, wonderful and unpredictable. The two of you are by far my biggest adventure!

Finally, my husband Morten, the love of my life and very best friend: you bring calm, patience and infinite support when I need it the most. You never give in, on anyone or anything. That includes volunteering for yet another discussion on prednisolone. I could never have completed this work without you.

IX

Abbreviations

APC	Antigen-presenting cells
AP-1	Activating protein 1
AUC	Area under the concentration-time curve
AUC _{dose}	The sum of AUC ₀₋₇ , AUC ₀₋₁₂ or AUC ₀₋₂₄ plus AUC _{last-∞} minus the AUC contribution from the previous dose of prednisolone (C ₀ /k _e), i.e. the AUC used for the determination of CL.
BW	Body weight
C_0	Pre-dose concentration, trough concentration
C _x	Concentration measured X hours post-dose
C _{max}	Maximum concentration
CBG	Corticosteroid binding globulin
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CL	Clearance
CL _{int}	Clearance intrinsic
CNI	Calcineurin inhibitor
CV	Coefficient of variation
СҮР	Cytochrome P450
F	Bioavailability
GC	Glucocorticoid
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor
HLA	Human leukocyte antigens
HPA	Hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal
HPLC-MSxMS	High-performance liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry

HSD	Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
IIV	Inter-individual variability
IL	Interleukin
Ke	The elimination rate constant
LSS	Limited sampling strategy
MPA	Mycophenolic acid
MR	Mineralocorticoid receptor
NFAT	Nuclear factor of activated T cells
NF-κB	Nuclear factor-ĸB
NAD	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADP(H)	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
P-gp	P-glycoprotein
PPE	Percentage prediction error
PL/PN	Prednisolone/prednisone
RTR	Renal transplant recipients
T _{max}	Time to C_{max} within dose interval
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TDM	Therapeutic drug monitoring
V _D	Volume of distribution

Definitions

New onset diabetes after transplantation (NODAT) was defined according to the World Health Organization/American Diabetes Association (WHO/ADA) guidelines for the testing and defining of dysglycemic states posttransplant: fasting blood glucose level \geq 7.0 mmol/L or 2- hour blood glucose level \geq 11.1 mmol/L (1).

Publications included

Paper I: Prednisolone and Prednisone Pharmacokinetics in Pediatric Renal Transplant Recipients—A Prospective Study.

Skauby, RH, Bjerre A, Sæves I, Vethe NT, Bremer S, Svarstad A, Bergan, S.

Ther Drug Monit. 2017; 39 (5): 472-482.

Paper II: Prednisolone and Prednisone Pharmacokinetics in Adult Renal Transplant Recipients

Ragnhild Heier Skauby, MD; Marte Theie Gustavsen, MSc Pharm; Anders M. Andersen, BSc, Nils Tore Vethe, MSc Pharm, PhD; Anders Åsberg, MSc Pharm, PhD, Karsten Midtvedt MD, PhD, Anna Bjerre MD, PhD and Stein Bergan, MSc Pharm, PhD

Ther Drug Monit. 2021; 43 (2): 247-255.

Paper III: In vitro assessments predict that CYP3A4 contributes to a greater extent than CYP3A5 to prednisolone clearance

Ragnhild Heier Skauby, MD; Stein Bergan, MSc Pharm, PhD; Anders Andersen, BSc; Nils Tore Vethe, MSc Pharm, PhD; and Hege Christensen, MSc Pharm, PhD

Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2021 Dec; 129(6):427-436.

Abstract

Refined immunosuppressive therapy for renal transplant patients has reduced the incidence of acute rejection episodes as a short term benefit. Long term outcome, however, has not improved significantly, and patients face a significant risk of opportunistic infections, cancer and cardiovascular diseases, which all contribute to a reduced long term patient survival. Glucocorticoids remain cornerstones in immunosuppressive therapy, but are associated with a wide range of unwanted side effects, such as hyperglycemia, hypertension, hyperlipidemia and osteopenia. One strategy to improve long term outcome without jeopardizing graft function has been glucocorticoid withdrawal or substitution of glucocorticoids with other immunosuppressive agents. Nonetheless, in the attempt to minimize glucocorticoid immunosuppression to avoid adverse effects, the specific immunological efficacy of glucocorticoids is also weakened, and the risk of acute rejection increases. A safer alternative to glucocorticoid withdrawal or avoidance may be better management of prednisolone therapy. The overall aim of this thesis was therefore to investigate the pharmacokinetics of prednisolone and prednisone, and to identify the need and feasibility for individualizing the dosing of prednisolone.

First, pediatric renal transplant recipients (n=11, age 1-15 years) receiving standardized (mg/kg) doses of prednisolone were recruited at Oslo University Hospital (January 2010 - January 2012). Blood samples were collected, and a 7 or 12-hour concentration-time profile was obtained at 1, 2, 3 4, 12 and 52 weeks post-engraftment.

Then, adult renal transplant recipients (n=28, age 22-78 years) receiving fixed doses of prednisolone, tapered according to protocol (median dose 15 mg (7.5-20), were recruited at Oslo University Hospital (December 2015 – May 2017). Blood samples were collected, and a 24-hour concentration-time profile was obtained within 4-6 weeks post-engraftment.

XIII

In both populations, the blood samples were analyzed for total concentrations of prednisolone, prednisone, cortisol and cortisone, and selected gene variants with potential relevance for prednisolone pharmacokinetics were investigated.

A considerable variability in prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics between patients was observed in both populations, even after adjusting for dose and body weight. A larger exposure of prednisolone and a higher ratio of prednisolone/prednisone were observed in patients with new onset diabetes after transplantation (NODAT), in patients receiving concurrent intravenous methylprednisolone, and in adults compared with children. A lower exposure of prednisolone in CYP3A5 expressers compared with non-expressers was noted in both the adult and pediatric populations, however, the studies were not powered to investigate this variable. In fasting adults, a strong negative correlation (p<0.01) between prednisolone area under the concentration versus time curve (AUC) and morning levels of cortisol was demonstrated. An algorithm based on three pharmacokinetic sampling time points: pre-dose plus two and four hours after prednisolone dosing, predicted prednisolone AUC₀₋₂₄ in adults with a low percentage prediction error (PPE= $5.2\pm1.5\%$) and a good correlation of determination (r²=0.91).

Finally, an *in vitro* incubation study was performed, using recombinant CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 expressed in insect microsomes. Applying a substrate depletion approach, the intrinsic clearance of prednisolone was determined in both recombinant enzymes. The results indicated that prednisolone is metabolized by rCYP3A4 rather than rCYP3A5.

In conclusion: the observed large inter-individual variability in prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics emphasizes the need for improvements in prednisolone dosing regimens. The results also indicate that a more moderate dosing of prednisolone may be possible, particularly in special patient groups. The work presented in this thesis contributes to knowledge that can be utilized in the development of strategies for individualizing and optimizing prednisolone therapy without compromising efficacy.

XIV

1. Introduction

1.1 Renal transplantation

The greatest challenge in transplantation history has been the patient's strong immune response to the new organ (host versus graft reaction). When the first successful renal transplantation between two monozygotic twins was performed in 1954, the genetic match was an advantage (2). Perhaps an even more impressive accomplishment was the successfully conducted renal transplantation between two dizygotic twins two years later, after first suppressing the recipient's immune system utilizing total body irradiation (TBI) (3). However, neither TBI nor the early immunosuppressive mercaptopurine improved graft and patient survival. In 1963, less than 10% of several hundred allograft renal transplant recipients had survived as long as 3 months (4). The future for human transplantation looked rather grim. A new immunosuppressive protocol was then presented by Thomas Starzl. He reported that although rejection usually occurred in patients on azathioprine (a pro-drug for mercaptopurine) alone, it was usually reversible with large doses of prednisone. This was a game-changer in human transplantation with one-year renal graft survival improving to over 70% (3). Since then, renal transplantation has moved from experimental to standardized therapy.

The first allogeneic renal transplantation in Norway was performed at Rikshospitalet, Oslo in 1956. The patient survived for 30 days, which was remarkable, given the insufficient immunosuppressive treatment available at that time (TBI and cortisone) (5). Today, all renal transplantations in Norway are conducted at Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet. Counting both living and deceased donors, between 250 to 300 renal transplantations have been performed per year the last 10 years, making the center the largest in northern Europe (6). The list of patients actively waiting for a kidney transplant at the end of 2020 included 411 patients. Primary renal diseases before renal transplantations in the period 2010-2020 are given in figure 1.



Figure 1: Primary renal disease before renal transplantation 2010-2020 (6) (*Morten Heier Skauby, with permission*)

Due to the advances in immunosuppression and subsequent decrease in early acute rejections, one year graft survival has improved and is currently above 95% for renal transplant recipients in Norway. Long term graft survival, however, has not improved significantly over the last decades (6). Too high exposure of the immunosuppressive drug calcineurin inhibitor (CNI) causes nephrotoxicity, which is considered to be the major contributing cause to the lack of improvement in graft survival (7).

Following deceased donor transplantation, one year patient survival in Norway is today approximately 97%, whereas the 5- and 10-year survival is about 84% and 62%, respectively. Following living donor transplantation, the 1, 5- and 10-year patient survival is about 99%, 95% and 85%, respectively (figure 2) (6). One of the main challenges in transplantation is that the lifelong immunosuppressive therapy includes a number of side effects. Hence, in addition to be fundamental in renal transplant therapy, immunosuppression drugs constitute a significant risk of opportunistic infections, cancer and cardiovascular diseases, which all contribute to a reduced long term patient survival (8).



Figure 2: patient survival for first deceased donor (top) and first living donor (bottom) renal transplantation (6). DD; deceased donor, LD; living donor; Tx; transplantation (Anders Åsberg, with permission)

1.2 Immunology in allograft transplantation

When an allo-transplantation is performed, cells, tissues, or organs are transferred between genetically non-identical members of the same species. The transplant is called an allograft. When foreign material (e.g. virus, bacteria) enters the body, the immune system is activated and elicits an immune response that recognizes, responds and resolves infection and disease attacks. The allograft is recognized as foreign by the recipient's immune system and triggers a massive allo-immune response, which eventually leads to an acute or chronic rejection and graft loss.

This immune response (allo-reactivity) is primarily T-cell dependent. Human leukocyte antigens (HLA) from the allograft are processed and presented as peptide antigens by self-HLA molecules on the surface of antigen-presenting cells (APC), like dendritic cells or macrophages. The recipient's naïve T cell recognizes the non-self peptide antigen and triggers activation and proliferation of the T-cell through three independent signals (figure 3). Signal 1(specific antigen signal) is a stimulatory signal from the T-cell receptor, generated by the binding of the HLA complex on the surface of APC to the T-cell receptor. Signal 2 (non-specific antigen signal) is a stimulatory co-signal, initiated when CD80 and CD86 (costimulating molecules on the APC) bind to CD28 on the T-cell. Lack of signal 2 in presence of signal 1 has been shown to leave the T-cell in a state of anergy, without the ability to attack the allograft. Once the T cell has received a specific antigen signal 1 and a general signal 2, three signal transduction pathways are activated: the calcium-calcineurin pathway, the mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase pathway and the nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) pathway, which in turn activate the transcription factors: nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), activating protein 1 (AP-1) and NF- κ B. The transcription factors translocate to the nucleus and induce mRNA synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, interferon gamma, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) and granulocyte colony stimulating factor (CSF). IL-2 binding to its receptor activates the mTOR ("mechanistic target of rapamycin") pathway (signal 3), resulting in T-cell clonal proliferation. The pro-inflammatory cytokines secreted from the activated T-cell

stimulate other T-cells to undergo clonal expansion, differentiate into effector T-cells, augment natural killer cell cytolytic activity and migrate into the allograft where they promote tissue destruction (8-12).



Figure 3: T - cell activation and immunosuppressive targets (Rolf Klaasen, with permission)

An allo-immune activation triggering cellular and antibody responses will lead to an acute or chronic rejection, and inevitably a graft loss. To prevent or to reverse this process, renal transplant recipients are in need of lifelong immunosuppressive treatment.

1.3 The immunosuppressive protocol in renal transplantation

The allo-immune response is primarily T-cell dependent, hence the main target for immunosuppressive drugs are T cells and T cell signaling molecules. Their mechanisms of actions are different (figure 3), but in general aimed at preventing lymphocyte activation, proliferation or downstream effector mechanisms.

In Norway, the current standard immunosuppressive protocol after renal transplantation is a quadruple regimen consisting of intravenous induction therapy with two doses of 20 mg basiliximab plus methylprednisolone 250 mg (350 mg iv if body weight (BW)> 90 kg) and peroral maintenance therapy of low-dose CNI in combination with mycophenolic acid (MPA) and prednisolone. Per oral prednisolone is administered in the morning according to a tapering schedule starting at 20 mg/day, and tapered to a maintenance dose of 5 mg/day by day 180 (13). In cases of acute rejection episodes, intravenous methylprednisolone is administered.

Both prednisolone and methylprednisolone belong to a class of corticosteroid hormones called glucocorticoids (GC), which have served as the backbone of immunosuppressive therapy since the beginning of the transplantation era. Although new and sophisticated immunosuppressants have contributed to an improvement of clinical outcome, GCs remain cornerstones in the immunosuppressive regimen.

1.4 Glucocorticoids

GCs are used therapeutically in a variety of clinical contexts: as frontline therapy for autoimmune diseases, for preventing the rejection of solid organ transplants and in the combinatorial therapy of certain cancers. Despite the development of targeted antibody-based therapies, GCs remain a critical component in the management of such diseases. GCs are among the most widely prescribed drugs in developed countries, taken by up to 1.2% of the adult population (14, 15).

The naturally occurring glucocorticoid, cortisol, is synthesized in the adrenal gland in response to stress and is regulated via negative feedback via the hypothalamuspituitary-adrenal (HPA)-axis (figure 4).





In an unstressed adult, the release of cortisol follows a circadian rhythm, where circulating levels are high in the morning between 06:00 and 08:00 am, decline during the day and reach a nadir between 23:00 pm and 01:00 am before a slow increase again starts between 02:00 and 04:00 am. Cortisol modulates cellular and tissue functions, and efficiently suppresses the normal response of the immune and inflammatory systems when these systems are triggered by exogenous

stimuli (17). After the compound was isolated and characterized from adrenal cortex in the laboratories of Kendall and Reichstein in the late 1930s, the biochemical properties of cortisol was soon acknowledged as attractive for therapeutic use (18). Kendall's compound E (cortisone) was synthesized for the first time in 1949, and in the late 1950s, Philip Hench used synthetic glucocorticoids for the first time in patients with rheumatic arthritis and rheumatic fever (19). The patients showed remarkable improvement in what so far had been perceived as relentless diseases. Kendall, Reichstein and Hench received a Nobel Prize in 1950 for their discoveries concerning hormones of the adrenal cortex. Synthetic GCs such as prednisolone, methylprednisolone and dexamethasone are based on the cortisol (hydrocortisone) structure, with modifications that enhance selected properties, e.g. increased anti-inflammatory effect, reduction of the affinity to the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) or increased glucocorticoid receptor (GR) binding (20). Because their hepatic metabolism is lower, synthetic GCs have longer half-lives than cortisol (half-life of about 1.8 hour). Thus, GCs of different potencies may be divided into short acting /intermediate/long acting drugs (table 1) (21-23). Prednisolone and other synthetic glucocorticoids suppress the endogenous cortisol secretion (17, 21).

Glucocorticoid	Glucocorticoid potency	Mineralocorticoid potency	Equivalent Dose (mg)	Plasma half-life (hours), oral dose
Cortisone	0.8	0.8	25	0.5
Cortisol (hydrocortisone)	1	1	20	1.8 ± 0.5
Prednisone	3.5 – 5	0.8	5	3.3 ± 1.3
Prednisolone	4	0.8	5	3.2 ± 1.0
Methylprednisolone	5-7.5	0.0	4	2.5 ± 1.2
Betamethasone	25–30	0.0	0.75	6.5
Dexamethasone	25–80	0.0	0.75	4.0 ± 0.9
Mineralocorticoid				
Aldosterone	0.3	200 - 1000		< 0.33

Table 1: the relative potencies and equivalent doses of common glucocorticoids and one mineralocorticoid (aldosterone). Because prednisone is rapidly converted to prednisolone in vivo (see section 1.7), the drug's properties are quite similar to prednisolone. (modified from Asare et al. (24))

1.4.1 Mechanisms of action

The effects of GCs are mediated by two main mechanisms of action: the genomic and the non-genomic effect. The genomic effects of glucocorticoids depends on initial binding to the GR, and develop slowly over a time span of 4-24 hours, as it implicates time-consuming processes like mRNA transcription and translation for protein synthesis. The non-genomic mode of action, however, do not influence gene expression and are characterized by a rapid onset (seconds to minutes) and short duration of action (60-90 min) (21, 22, 25).

The genomic effects are exerted as the lipophilic GC diffuse across the cell membrane and binds to the GR, which causes a conformational change in the receptor. The GR-GC complex translocates into the nucleus of the cell (figure 5), binds to specific glucocorticoid response elements (GREs) that are associated with genes that either suppress or stimulate transcription, and subsequently initiates gene induction or repression. Production of anti-inflammatory mediators is increased (transactivation), whereas production of pro-inflammatory mediators is decreased (transrepression) (20-22).



Figure 5: Genomic and non-genomic actions of glucocorticoids. GR; glucocorticoid receptor, GRE; glucocorticoid response element (modified from Ponticelli et al. (22))

The non-genomic effects are mediated either through intracellular or membranebound GRs, or via direct interaction of GCs with cell membranes, changing the physicochemical properties of the membranes and affecting the activity of membrane associated proteins (21, 26). Non-genomic effects result in inhibition of inflammatory cell function (25), and it is believed that the rapid non-genomic effects are a way of preparing the cell for the following GC induced genomic changes, and closing the time-gap between the immediate need of GC effects and the delayed genomic response (22).

The **regulatory and metabolic effects** of GCs are mediated mainly via genomic mechanisms. The **regulatory effects** are the anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive activities of GCs, which are exerted on different levels against a host-defense response in the body.

The anti-inflammatory effects of GCs result from induction of anti-inflammatory cytokines (such as IL10 and TGF β), and repression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (including TNF α and various interleukins) (27, 28). Furthermore, GCs suppress the production of inflammatory enzymes (e.g. arachidonic acid and its metabolites, cyclooxygenase (COX)-2), which are important mediators of the inflammatory response (29). GCs counteract oedema induced by inflammation, by inducing the synthesis of enzymes that degrade bradykinin, a vasodilator (30), and reduce the migration of immune cells to the site of inflammation by repression of adhesion molecules (31).

The immunosuppressive effects of GCs result from inhibition of T-cell activation and subsequent B-cell activation, T-cell proliferation and T-cell differentiation. This is achieved by suppression of NFAT, AP-1 and NF- κ B, thus inhibiting the production of several pro-inflammatory cytokines (including IL-2), thereby blocking signal 1 in the immune response (figure 3) (27, 32). By blocking the costimulatory CD40 ligand (i.e. CD154) on lymphocytes and the costimulatory molecules (CD40, CD80 and CD86) on dendritic cells (figure 3), GCs inhibit antigen presentation in dendritic cells and T-cell differentiation from Th0 to Th1 cells (33, 34). In addition, GCs induce apoptosis of immune cells (lymphocytes), leading to a weakening of the immune response. Apoptosis of T-cells is indicated as a contributing mechanism to the immunosuppressive effect of intravenous methylprednisolone pulse therapy (35).

In sum, the effects of GCs result in an anti-inflammatory effect which includes vasoconstriction, a reduced capillary permeability and a decreased rate of leucocyte migration to tissues. Furthermore, and more importantly in a renal transplant setting, the immunosuppressive effects of GCs result in an inhibition of the initial immune response in addition to a suppression of activated T cells that blocks the cell-mediated immune response. GCs prevent acute rejection of the allograft by down-regulating adhesion molecules and chemokine receptors that are upgraded in acute rejection episodes, and by inducing apoptosis of T-cells.

The main outcome of the **metabolic effects** of GCs is an increase in blood glucose concentration. Through transactivation, GCs alter the balance of carbohydrates (enhance gluconeogenesis, reduce consumption of glucose in the cells, increase liver glycogen storage, reduce uptake of glucose by producing insulin resistance in both muscle and adipose tissue) and proteins (increase catabolism, reduce anabolism). In addition, GCs facilitate lipolysis and redistribution of fat (17).

1.4.2 Adverse effects

Immediately after the discovery and therapeutic use of "Kendall's compound E", cortisone was tested in numerous studies and clinical conditions (18), proving to be highly efficient in adrenal deficiency disorders, inflammatory diseases and some types of malignancies – although detrimental in infections. However, because of the wide distribution of GR, the range of GC effects is extraordinary and includes both benefits and harms. A myriad of adverse effects have become evident after long-term GC treatment, whereas less frequently after short-term treatment (36, 37).

GC treatment is a risk factor for hyperglycemia in patients without known diabetes mellitus (induction of diabetes) and aggravation of established diabetes mellitus.

Insulin resistance has been associated with prednisolone dose, both short and long term after renal transplantation (38, 39). Insulin resistance increases very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), free fatty acid and triglyceride concentrations, and lowers high-density lipoprotein (HDL) concentrations (40). In addition, GCs induce arterial hypertension. Taken together, long term GC usage leads to an increased risk of cardiovascular disease. Bone loss from collagen catabolism leading to osteoporosis and fractures caused by long-term GC therapy are well documented (37). An impaired linear growth in children using systemic GC is commonly experienced (41, 42), and the effect seems more pronounced in prepubertal than pubertal patients. Furthermore, skin and muscle atrophy due to increased protein catabolism, gastric ulcer, redistribution of adipose tissue centrally to the trunk, neck, and face, increased appetite and weight gain, sleep disorders are all adverse effects associated with GC therapy (43). Modest doses of glucocorticoids can improve mood, but at therapeutic doses, they can also cause psychosis (17).

1.5 Glucocorticoid withdrawal or avoidance in renal transplantation

In pediatric renal transplant recipients, the GC induced growth retardation and development of cardiovascular diseases is of particular concern (43). Over the past two decades, there has been an increasing interest in immunosuppressive regimens where prednisolone or prednisone is minimized, eventually withdrawn or completely avoided. From 2000-2009, several randomized controlled trials were conducted, evaluating "steroid avoidance" or "withdrawal" (SAW) regimens in pediatric renal transplant recipients (42, 44-46). Death and graft loss at five years were found to be significantly lower for children withdrawn from GCs (45). Kidney function was reported not significantly different between patients receiving GCs and patients in GC withdrawal group, two years post-transplant (44). An improved longitudinal growth, a lower prevalence of the metabolic syndrome and a decrease of the prevalence and severity of arterial hypertension were among the reported benefits of the SAW regimens (42, 44, 46). Due to their low sample sizes, these studies were limited and not sufficient to draw robust conclusions (47). Nevertheless, in 2009, the Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) guidelines recommended that GCs could be discontinued during the first week of transplant in patients at low immunologic risk (48, 49). Appropriate identification of the low-immunologic-risk patient eligible for a SAW regimen proved to be challenging, and the practice of GC avoidance varied among transplant centers. In 2016, Zhang et al suggested that a patient eligible for a SAW regimen should have the following characteristics: prepubertal, caucasian, primary disease not related to immunological factors, de novo kidney transplant recipient and a low panel of reactive antibodies (47). In 2017, Nehus demonstrated in a propensity score-matched cohort analysis that GC avoidance can be safely practiced also in pediatric patients with higher risk, and that the decision to use GCs should "not be solely based on race, sensitization or other risk factors for inferior outcomes". Rather, the immunosuppression regimen should be tailored to the individual patient (48). At the Norwegian National Transplant Center, a "steroid-free protocol" (i.e. withdrawal of prednisolone maintenance dose within

1-6 months post-transplant) for pediatric patients with low immunological risk has been in use since 2018.

For adult renal transplant recipients, the results are different from the pediatric population. As reviewed by Haller et al., steroid withdrawal or avoidance in adult renal transplantation patients show little or no effect on mortality or graft loss, however, the risk of acute rejection did significantly increase by 77% after GC withdrawal and by 58% after GC avoidance, compared with GC maintenance (50). The protocol for adult renal transplantation at the Norwegian National Transplant Center includes the use of GCs, regardless of immunological risk.

Although a steroid-free regimen is successfully practiced in a selected pediatric patient group, the numerous adverse effects of GCs persist to be a clinical problem in the remaining population of renal transplant patients. To obtain an optimal balance between efficacy and toxicity for each individual patient, a further knowledge of the relationship between prednisolone exposure and efficacy and adverse effects is required.

1.6 Pharmacokinetic principles

Pharmacokinetics refers to the processes of drug absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion, and is a quantitation of the time course of a drug and its metabolites in the body. The fraction of ingested dose reaching the systemic circulation and site of action, to what extent the drug is distributed to different tissues and how efficiently the drug is eliminated from the body is determined by numerous factors such as genetic factors, age, gender, BW, interactions with drugs given concomitantly, physiological states, pathological conditions and environmental factors. The key to determine the optimal dose regimen and drug therapy for the individual patient lies in thorough knowledge about the factors causing differences in pharmacokinetic processes and drug response (51).

1.6.1 Absorption

For a drug given as oral dosing, absorption is defined as the movement of drug across the intestinal epithelium (51). The drug encounters several barriers on its way to the systemic circulation, e.g., metabolizing enzymes in the gut wall or removal of drug in the liver, all of which may reduce the fraction of dose that reaches the circulation. Bioavailability (F) is defined as the fraction of the administered dose systemically absorbed intact (51). The rate and extent of drug absorption is primarily influenced by gastric emptying time and intestinal motility, both of which are initially reduced after surgical procedures (e.g. renal transplantation).

1.6.2 Distribution

Drug distribution refers to the reversible movement of a drug between the blood and various tissues of the body. Drugs in the body can be distributed in an unbound state or bound to plasma proteins or tissue components. Normally, only the unbound fraction of a drug is capable of diffusing through cell membranes to exert a pharmacological effect (51). Since drug binding in general is rapidly

reversible, the bound and the unbound forms of the drug can be assumed to be in a dynamic equilibrium at all times. This equilibrium will partly depend on physical (e.g. hydrophobic vs hydrophilic, degree of ionization) and physiological (e.g. protein binding, tissue uptake) properties and processes (52), which means that drug distribution is affected by factors like protein binding, pH, membrane permeability, blood flow and body composition. Volume of distribution (V_D) is an indicator of the extent of drug distribution into body fluids and tissues at equilibrium, and is defined by amount of drug in the body relative to the plasma drug concentration (51).

1.6.3 Elimination

Elimination is the irreversible removal of drug from the body, either in an unaltered form (unbound) or modified as a metabolite. Drug elimination can take place through both excretion and metabolism. Excretion is the irreversible loss of chemically unchanged drug through the kidneys (renal elimination), and sometimes via the bile or in the breath (51). A few, water-soluble, drugs are excreted directly and entirely via the kidneys in the urine. Most drugs, however, need to be chemically altered before they are eliminated through the kidneys.

Metabolism (non-renal elimination) is the major pathway for elimination of drugs. This occurs predominantly in the liver, but other organs such as the kidney, lung, blood, gastrointestinal tract, brain and placenta may also have metabolic capacity. The most common drug metabolizing reactions involves oxidation, reduction or hydrolysis (phase I) followed by conjugation (phase II) of the drug (51). The major group of phase I metabolizing enzymes is the cytochrome P450 (CYP) superfamily. Of 57 CYP isoforms identified in humans only about a dozen enzymes, belonging primarily to the CYP1, 2, and 3 families, are relevant for drug metabolism. CYP1, 2, and 3 contribute to the metabolism of 70-80 % of all drugs in clinical use. The CYP3A subfamily, mainly comprising two isoforms CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in adults, is responsible for the oxidative metabolism of over 50% of the drugs in widespread use (53). Due to the large distribution and variability of

CYP3A enzymes in both liver and small intestine, these enzymes are considered to have a major influence on first pass metabolism and therefore the bioavailability after oral drug administration (54).

Clearance (CL) is the volume of blood completely cleared for drug per unit of time (L/h or mL/min). CL provides a measure on how efficient the drug is eliminated from the body, primarily as the sum of liver metabolism and renal excretion. The elimination rate constant (k_e) is the fraction of a drug that is eliminated from the body per unit of time. It describes the rate at which a drug is removed from the body. The rate of elimination is described as the product of clearance and drug concentration (51).

The drug concentration in the body is determined by the processes of absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion. The time course of a drug and the systemic exposure can be illustrated by plotting a drug-concentration curve (figure 6).



Figure 6: C_0 is the drug concentration measured right before the next dose is administered, and is usually the lowest concentration in a dose interval. C_{max} is the maximum drug concentration at time T_{max} . The area under the concentration versus time curve (AUC) represents the total drug exposure as a function over time. (Marte Theie Gustavsen, with permission)

1.7 Prednisolone and prednisone

In addition to the regulation of GCs via the HPA axis, there is also tissue specific regulation. Since only hormonally active GC is capable to elicit a response in the GR, local GC tissue concentrations can be further controlled through the 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11 β -HSD) enzymatic system, for which both endogenous and synthetic GCs are substrates (55). The hormonally inactive prednisone must be converted to its hormonally active compound, prednisolone, by the enzyme 11 β -HSD1 in order to exert its physiological effect.

1.7.1 Interconversion between active and inactive glucocorticoids

The biological activity of GCs is determined by a hydroxyl group at position C11 of the steroid structure (hydroxysteroid), whereas an oxidation of this group to an 11-keto group inactivates the GC (ketosteroid). In this way, the two isozymes of 11 β -HSD (11 β -HSD1 and 11 β -HSD2) control the availability of GC for binding to the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) (56, 57). The 11 β -HSD1acts primarily as a NADP(H) dependent reductase, converting inactive GC to active GC, whereas the function of the NAD dependent dehydrogenase 11 β -HSD2 is to transform the active GC to inactive GC (figure 7). *In vitro*, however, the 11 β -HSD1 has been shown to be a bi-directional enzyme, capable to carry out both reductase and dehydrogenase activity (57).



Figure 7: Interconversion between inactive prednisone and active prednisolone by the enzymes 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11 β -HSD) 1 and 2 (modified from Draper et al. (57))

11β-HSD1and 2 are encoded by two different genes, *HSD11B1* (located on chromosome 1) and *HSD11B2* (located on chromosome 16), sharing only 21% homology (58, 59). The expression of the two enzymes is tissue specific, a feature that plays a crucial role in regulating both glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid receptor activation. Because its function is to supply tissue with active GC, the 11β-HSD1 is highly expressed in glucocorticoid target tissues, such as liver, lungs, gonads, pituitary, adrenal cortex, central nervous system and adipose tissue. In contrast, 11β-HSD2 is typically expressed in mineralocorticoid target tissues such as the kidneys, colon, salivary glands and placenta. Although the ligand for the MR is primarily aldosterone, GCs also have binding affinity for the MR, and circulating concentrations of GCs are several orders of magnitude higher than aldosterone (60). The important function of 11β-HSD2 is to inactivate GCs, thereby protecting the MR from occupation by high concentrations of cortisol and prevent undesired stimulation of the MR.

The activity of 11 β -HSD1and 2 is associated with several pathological conditions. Increased adipose 11 β -HSD1expression and activity is found in patients with metabolic syndrome (61, 62), but there are mixed results regarding the association between 11 β -HSD1 polymorphisms and metabolic syndrome according to a recent review by Gregory et al. (63). Nevertheless, interventional studies with 11 β -HSD1 inhibitors have been shown to improve insulin sensitivity, lower fasting blood glucose and reduce HbA1c, BW and high-density lipoprotein (LDL) (64, 65).

A reduced 11 β -HSD1 activity due to a functional polymorphism in *HSD11B1* has been associated with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) (66), however, larger studies have shown no linkage between polymorphisms in *HSD11B1* and PCOS (18, 67).

Decreased or inhibited 11 β -HSD2 activity results in high concentrations of active GCs in mineralocorticoid tissues (e.g. the kidney), and subsequently hypertension and hypokalemia (18). Gene variants that significantly impair 11 β -HSD2 activity have been associated with essential hypertension (68, 69), although other studies have been negative (70). Rather, loss of function of 11 β -HSD2 activity may be

regarded as a contributing factor to hypertension, along with dietary salt intake and impairment of homeostatic systems controlling blood pressure. In humans carrying null mutations in the *HSD11B2* gene, however, the syndrome of apparent mineralocorticoid excess (AME), characterized by hypertension, hypokalemia and low renin levels despite normal aldosterone levels is observed (71).

1.7.2 Pharmacokinetics

Absorption

Prednisolone and prednisone are rapidly and quite extensively absorbed after oral administration with a peak plasma concentration (C_{max}) within 1-2 h after oral dosing (72). Food intake prolongs the time to C_{max} (T_{max}), but not the extent of drug absorption. The conversion of prednisone to prednisolone is usually rapid and comprehensive (73). Both drugs are substrates for the transmembrane P-glycoprotein (P-gp) encoded by the *ABCB1* gene (74, 75). This efflux transporter provides a functional barrier in a variety of tissues, especially small intestine and kidneys, and is a major determinant of how much of the drug will get into the systemic circulation after an oral dose. In renal transplant recipients, bioavailability of total prednisolone from oral prednisone and oral prednisolone has been reported as $86.1\pm9.1\%$ and $93.6\pm9.2\%$, respectively (72).

Distribution

Prednisolone displays dose-dependent pharmacokinetics; as dose and drug concentrations increase, the V_D and CL increase (76). The increase in CL may be due to induction of metabolism or saturable binding to plasma proteins. Hence, a prednisolone dose of 0.15mg/kg has a V_D of 29.3L, while a 0.30 mg/kg dose has a V_D of 44.2L (73). This can be explained by non-linear protein binding for protein bound drug. Prednisolone is bound in plasma to corticosteroid binding globulin (CBG) with high affinity and low capacity, and to albumin with low affinity and high capacity (73, 77). At plasma concentrations of about 200 µg/L, the protein

binding of prednisolone is approximately 95%, and decreases non-linearly down to 60-70% at plasma concentrations of 800 μ g/L (21, 78). Whereas V_D and CL increase with drug concentration, the elimination half-life is relatively constant for prednisolone doses given as maintenance therapy (<60-70 mg/day) (21, 79). At very high doses prednisolone CL is reported to decrease, indicating a partial saturation of the metabolizing enzymes (21, 80).

The relationship between plasma prednisolone and prednisone concentrations changes during a dose interval, and may be explained by the concentrationdependent pharmacokinetics of prednisolone and differences in affinity for CBG for prednisolone and prednisone. Whereas albumin binds prednisolone and prednisone with equal affinity, CBG binds prednisolone with a 10 fold greater affinity compared with prednisone. In presence of prednisolone, prednisone is displaced from the CBG-binding sites and binds primarily to albumin. With increasing prednisolone concentrations, CBG capacity is exceeded, and prednisolone shifts to albumin with low affinity. This causes an increase in unbound prednisolone from about 5-10% at low concentrations up to 40% at maximum prednisolone concentrations. Due to the large binding capacity, prednisolone and prednisone do not compete for albumin binding sites. Hence, the unbound fraction of prednisone remains stable at about 45% regardless of prednisolone concentration, whereas protein binding and the unbound fraction of prednisolone are concentration dependent (73, 76, 81, 82). These differences in concentration-dependent binding patterns result in an increased clearance at high concentrations for prednisolone, but not for prednisone. Hence, as prednisolone concentrations decrease during a dose interval, the PL/PN ratio decrease correspondingly (81).

Elimination

A small fraction of an oral or intravenous dose is directly excreted as prednisolone (12-26%) and prednisone (2-4%) by the kidneys (78, 83, 84). *In vitro* studies in animals also indicate that prednisolone can be metabolized by renal tissue (85).

Interconversion between prednisolone and prednisone ensures that about 76% the drug dose is recycled. Clearance of prednisolone by inactivation to prednisone is 4-10 fold greater than vice versa, and occurs until the 11 β -HSD2 enzyme is saturated at a prednisone concentration of about 60 µg/L (76, 83). The major mechanism for prednisolone and prednisone elimination, however, is through hepatic metabolism involving phase I and phase II biotransformation. The isoenzymes CYP3A4 and 5 are assumed to be involved in prednisolone metabolism, as they are reported to catalyze several other steroid hormones (86-89). However, the degree of involvement of these enzymes, especially the role of CYP3A5, in prednisolone and prednisone metabolism has not been fully elucidated. Prednisone, 20-dihydro-prednisolone and 6 β -OH-prednisolone are reported to be among the major unconjugated metabolites of prednisolone, but more than 20 metabolites are described (figure 8) (90). After biotransformation in the liver, the hydrophilic metabolites are subsequently excreted in the urine.



Figure 8: Major metabolites of prednisolone.
1.8 Therapeutic drug monitoring

The concept of therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is based on the assumption that clinical effects correlate better with drug concentrations than with drug dose, and the goal is to individually adjust the drug dose according to drug exposure, in order to improve patient outcome. TDM is relevant for drugs where the following criteria are met (91, 92):

- a narrow therapeutic window, meaning that small changes in dose may cause either severe consequences for the patient in terms of overexposure (toxicity) or underexposure (loss of efficacy)
- a clear relationship between drug exposure and clinical outcome
- a considerable inter-individual pharmacokinetic variability, and therefore a poor and unpredictable relationship between dose and drug concentration
- an available assay for measuring drug exposure
- if a metabolite/unbound fraction is the active compound, it should be measured.
- the drug must have a reversible action, and the concentration of the drug at the site of sampling should reflect the drug concentration at the receptor site/at target.
- a therapeutic range of the measured variable must be established, or alternatively: an individual therapeutic range, i.e. the patient serves as his/her own control over time.

Administering immunosuppression therapy is a subtle balance between the risk of underexposure (immunological failure and graft loss) versus overexposure (opportunistic infections). The large arsenal of sophisticated immunosuppressive drugs available used in different combinations for the prevention and treatment of graft rejections have reduced the incidence of acute rejection episodes to approximately 20%, and one year graft survival rates are generally over 90%. At the same time the adverse effects associated with long-term outcomes (cancer, cardiovascular morbidity and infections) are of concern (93). Using TDM to tailor

the dose regimen in order to achieve maximal efficacy with minimal toxicity for each individual is therefore essential. Furthermore, TDM may be useful to identify potential causes of therapeutic failure that may result from poor adherence, and to investigate suspected drug to drug interactions or unforeseen toxicities (94).

The most frequent form of TDM is pharmacokinetic monitoring, which is based on quantification of drug levels in a biological matrix, most commonly plasma, serum or saliva. The measurements are based on either single point concentrations or drug exposure (area under the concentration curve, AUC). A full AUC is the best marker of drug exposure. However, a full AUC requires several sampling points to cover the dose interval of 12 or 24 hours, which is inconvenient. Considering the easy access and patient convenience, single point measurements such as trough measurements (C_0) , or drug concentrations at a given time after administered dose (C_1 , C_2 , etc.), are rather used as surrogate markers, provided that a good correlation between the surrogate marker and the AUC is established. Multiple regression-derived limited sampling strategies (LSS) combine several single point measurements in a mathematical algorithm that estimate the AUC with even better accuracy than a single point alone, while being less cumbersome than a full AUC. Population pharmacokinetic modelling incorporates environmental, demographic and drug-related factors as well as pharmacokinetic parameters in the mathematical model, and is increasingly used for tacrolimus (95, 96). Bayesian forecasting is a method for estimating individual pharmacokinetic parameters, using a combination of prior information and individual information (97). Combined with Bayesian forecasting, population pharmacokinetic modelling is able to determine individual pharmacokinetic profiles and individual dosage regimens to achieve specific target concentrations at desired times.

1.9 Therapeutic drug monitoring in renal transplantation

Due to its narrow therapeuticwindow, TDM of tacrolimus is almost always performed in current immunosuppressive protocols. Trough (C_0) measurements are traditionally used. In the literature, there are conflicting views regarding how well a tacrolimus trough concentration correlates with AUC (98-101). Furthermore, some studies report that the relationship between trough concentration and tacrolimus efficacy is not precise (102, 103), and that identifying the appropriate target concentration for each individual is challenging (104). New TDM approaches for tacrolimus are now developing, including not only the pharmacokinetic but also pharmacogenetic and pharmacodynamic variables, in order to provide a more personalized treatment (105). MPA and **basiliximab** are approved for the prevention of rejection using fixed doses, currently without monitoring. However, TDM of MPA in renal transplant recipients has been explored for some time. Based on the results from 3 large studies (APOMYGRE (106), FDCC (107) and OptiCept (108)), TDM seems to be useful, especially early post-transplant. According to the immunosuppressive protocols, prednisolone should be dosed as fixed doses in adults and by BW in children (13). The dose of prednisolone is solely based on a clinical assessment of the risk of rejection versus the risk of adverse effects. There is no consensus on the appropriate dosing strategy, or whether prednisolone should be given as maintenance doses at all. Whether TDM of prednisolone is able improve clinical outcomes in renal transplantation is currently unknown.

2. Aims of the study

2.1 General aim

The overall aim of this thesis was to characterize prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics in renal transplant recipients and to identify the need and feasibility for individualizing the dosing of prednisolone.

2.2 Specific aims

- I. To characterize the pharmacokinetics of prednisolone and prednisone in a pediatric renal transplant recipient population (Paper I)
- II. To characterize the pharmacokinetics of prednisolone and prednisone in an adult renal transplant recipient population (Paper II)
- III. To investigate the relative importance of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone *in vitro* (Paper III)
- IV. To examine the relationship between prednisolone AUC and pharmacokinetic parameters of prednisolone and cortisol to evaluate whether there would be a potential for individualized dosing of prednisolone in solid organ transplantation. (Paper I, II and III)

3. Materials and Methods

3.1 Materials

3.1.1 Paper I

Eleven pediatric renal transplant recipients (4 females) were included in this prospective, descriptive, non-randomized, and non-interventional study. All patients were recruited at Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, in the period between January 2010 and January 2012. The inclusion criteria were age<16 years, living donor kidney and immunosuppressive therapy according to standard protocol, consisting of prednisolone, methylprednisolone, tacrolimus, MPA and basiliximab, for pediatric kidney transplantation at this center.

Venous blood samples were collected (from a central venous catheter, vascular access port, or venipuncture fossa cubiti) pre-transplant and at six follow-up days during week 1, 2, 3, 4, 12, and 52 post-transplant (i.e.; observation periods I, II, III, IV, V, and VI). At each follow-up day, a twelve or seven hour pharmacokinetic profile was obtained, which contained a total of six samples: at pre-dose (C₀) and approximately 1, 2, 4, 6 and 12 hours after peroral prednisolone dose (hospitalized patients) or after 1, 2, 4, 6 and 7 hours (outpatients). In children with BW <10 kg, the sampling was limited to 0, 1, and 2 hours after dosing. Plasma was separated and stored at -20°C until analysis.

3.1.2 Paper II

28 adult renal transplant recipients (7 females) were included in this prospective, observational pharmacokinetic study. All patients were recruited from the National Transplant Center in Norway, Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, in the period between December 2015 and May 2017. The inclusion criteria were age \geq 18 years, receiving immunosuppressive therapy according to the standard protocol, consisting of prednisolone, methylprednisolone, tacrolimus, MPA and basiliximab, for adult kidney transplantation at this center.

Dose administration was performed either in a fasting-state (\pm 2 hours fasting) or under real-life non-fasting conditions (administered as in patients everyday life; no meal restrictions). From each patient, a full 24 hour pharmacokinetic profile was obtained between 13 and 54 days post-engraftment (median 27 days), and repeated within 4 weeks in 8 of the patients (from the same population). A total of 26 venous blood samples were obtained during the dose interval. Plasma was separated and stored at -80 C until analysis.

3.1.3 Paper III

Baculovirus-transfected insect cell microsomes selectively co-expressing human CYP3A4 or CYP3A5 enzymes, cytochrome P450 reductase and cytochrome b5 (Supersomes) were used as the *in vitro* model. A solution of sucrose, hepes and EGTA constituted the growth medium, into which the microsomes were diluted. Prednisolone was incubated according to incubation conditions optimized by Hermann et al. (109) at 37°C in Tris-H₂SO₄ (pH 7.4), MgSO₄, and NADPH, The reaction was initiated when a preheated mixture of microsomes and growth medium were suspended in the prednisolone buffer solution, and terminated after 0 to 120 min with 882 μ L ice-cold precipitation solution (MeOH:ZnSO₄, 2:1) including internal standard (prednisolone-d8) and put on ice for 30 min. After centrifugation, a 200 μ L aliquot of the supernatant was extracted and frozen at -20°C.

3.2 Laboratory methods

3.2.1 Measurements of drug concentrations

In **paper I**, the total plasma concentrations of prednisolone, prednisone, cortisol, and cortisone were determined using a previously published high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry (HPLC-MSxMS) method (110). In brief, plasma sample (500 mL) preparation included protein precipitation with acetonitrile with isotope labelled internal standards, followed by liquid/liquid extraction with dichloromethane and evaporation under nitrogen (40°C, 15 min). The sample was then re-constituted in methanol, centrifuged and transferred to an autosampler for analysis. The analytical instrumentation used was an Alliance HT 2795 high performance chromatograph, interfaced to a Micromass Quattro micro API tandem mass spectrometer with electrospray ionization, (Waters, Manchester, United Kingdom). For all analytes, the between-runs coefficient of variation (CV) was below 15%. Tacrolimus concentrations were determined using a chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay (analyzed on the Architect Instrument; Abbott Laboratories, Abbot Park, IL). The lower limit of quantification was 1.0 μ g/L. The between series CV were 6% at 2 μ g/L and 3.5% at 7.2 μ g/L, respectively.

In **paper II**, total plasma concentrations of prednisolone, prednisone, cortisol and cortisone were determined using a newer in-house developed HPLC-MSxMS method. In brief, plasma sample (125 mL) preparation included protein precipitation with 400 mL of cold (MeOH:ZnSO₄, 2:1) with isotope labelled internal standards, pipetted to a deep-well plate. The plate was sealed and shaken for 4 min, then centrifuged for 10 min and transferred to an autosampler for analysis. The analytical instrumentation used was a Transcend II LX-2 ultra-HPLC-system coupled to a TSQ Quantiva mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). For all analytes, the between runs CV was below 10%, except for the lower limit of quantification for prednisone, cortisol and cortisone, where the CV was below 13%. Details regarding the specified conditions for

reagents, assays, sample preparations and analysis are provided in **paper II**, supplemental data (111).

In **paper III**, prednisolone concentrations were determined using the in-house HPLC-MSxMS performed as described in **Paper II** (111). Within- and between runs CV were below 7%. The same HPLC-MSxMS assay, with some minor modifications, was used for identification and semi-quantification of the prednisolone metabolite 6β -OH-prednisolone. Absolute quantitation of 6β -OH-prednisolone was not performed due to lack of a suitable isotope labelled internal standard, and also apparent impurities in the reference compound.

3.2.2 Genetic markers in whole blood

DNA was exctracted from whole-blood samples using MagNA Pure 96 or MagNA Pure LC instrument (both: Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim and Penzberg, Germany). Genetic variants in *CYP3A4*, *CYP3A5*, and *ABCB1* were investigated using real time polymerase chain reaction and melting curve analysis with allelespecific hybridization probes on the LightCycler 480 instrument (Roche) (112),

The following sequence variants were determined:

*CYP3A5*3* (NM_000777.3:c.219-237A>G), A=*CYP3A5*1* and G=*CYP3A5*3 CYP3A4*22* (NM_001202855.2:c.522-191C>T) *ABCB1* NM_000927.4:c.1236T>C *ABCB1* NM_000927.4:c.2677T>G/A *ABCB1* NM_000927.4:c.3435T>C

Genetic variants in *HSD11B2* (exons 2, 3, and 5 and flanking intron sequences) were investigated using Sanger sequencing on ABI 3730x1 DNA Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA).

3.3 Pharmacokinetic analysis

In **paper I and II**, the pharmacokinetic variables and parameters were derived from the plasma concentration data as follows: pre-dose (trough) concentration (C₀), maximum concentration (C_{max}), and time to reach C_{max} (T_{max}) were read directly from the concentration vs time curves. In **paper II**, the morning cortisol level was defined as cortisol C₀. The evening cortisol level was defined as the mean of the measured cortisol levels at 7 and 9 p.m. The ratio of the evening-tomorning cortisol was stated as a percentage. The elimination rate constant (k_e) was calculated by log-linear regression of the terminal part of the concentration versus time curve. In **paper I**, the elimination phase was defined by two data points in 9 of 47 k_e calculations, otherwise by three data points. In **paper II**, the elimination phase was defined by four data points in all 28 k_e calculations. The elimination half-life (t_{1/2}) was calculated from k_e (t_{1/2}=LN(2)/k_e).

The area under the concentration curve (AUC) was calculated using the linear trapezoidal rule. In **paper I**, the C₁₂ was missing in 7 of the 47 dose intervals, hence the AUCs from 0 to 7 hours (AUC₀₋₇) were calculated in these cases, whereas for the remaining dose intervals AUC₀₋₁₂ were calculated. In **paper II**, AUC₀₋₂₄ was calculated. The AUCs from the last measurement to infinity (AUC_{1ast- ∞}) were calculated as C₇, C₁₂ or C₂₄ divided by k_e. The AUCs from time zero to infinity (AUC_{0- ∞}) were calculated as AUC₀₋₇, AUC₀₋₁₂ or AUC₀₋₂₄ + AUC_{1ast- ∞}.

The AUCs derived from the dose investigated (AUC_{dose}, i.e. the AUC used for the determination of CL) were calculated as the sum of AUC₀₋₇, AUC₀₋₁₂ or AUC₀₋₂₄ plus AUC_{last- ∞} minus the AUC contribution from the previous dose of prednisolone (C₀/k_e). The AUC was not calculated for children with BW <10 kg.

The apparent total clearance from plasma after an oral dose (CL/F, where F=bioavailability) was determined from the dose divided by the AUC_{dose}. The apparent volume of distribution (V_D/F) was calculated as (CL/F)/k_e.

The pharmacokinetic parameters and variables were calculated relative to the prednisolone dose (mg) per kg BW (dose-BW-adjusted). The ratios of active and inactive forms of glucocorticoids were calculated with respect to AUC_{dose} and C_{max} . The pharmacokinetic parameters of prednisone were calculated based on doses given as prednisolone and assuming single compartment pharmacokinetics. Body mass index (BMI) was defined as BW/(height²) and expressed as kg/m².

In **paper III**, the velocity constant k (min⁻¹) for the substrate depletion was estimated in each experiment using the equation $C_t = C_0 e^{-kt}$, and the intrinsic clearance (CL_{int}) was calculated as CL_{int} = kV, where V is the incubation volume.

3.4 Statistics and data analysis

Statistical analysis and calculation were performed using SPSS (version 25.0), Microsoft Excel (version 2010) and Graph Pad (version 8.0.1). All continuous variables were reported as median and range unless otherwise stated. A two-tailed p-value of 0.05 or less was considered statistically significant.

In **paper I**, to determine the intra-individual variability (IIV), the individual relative deviation from the mean of the 6 periods was calculated in each patient for each period, and then the median for each period was reported. In **paper II**, the percentage prediction errors (PPE) were reported as the root mean square \pm 95% confidence interval (CI). The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to compare the paired pharmacokinetic variables in fasting conditions *vs.* non-fasting conditions. The Mann-Whitney U test was performed for data comparison between males and females. The Spearman rank correlation coefficient was used for investigating statistical bivariate correlation between covariates contributing to prednisolone variability and bioavailability of prednisolone. For correlation of pharmacokinetic variables with measured prednisolone AUC, the coefficient of determination was analyzed by linear univariate regression analysis. Forward stepwise regression analysis was used to identify independent predictors of estimated prednisolone AUC. The PPE was calculated for each equation as (estimated AUC₀₋₂₄ - measured

 AUC_{dose})/measured AUC_{dose}) × 100 for comparison of the limited-sampling strategies (LSS).

In **paper III**, substrate depletion data of prednisolone for the incubation period of 0-45 min were fitted to a mono-exponential decay model ($C_t = C_0 e^{-kt}$) with a 1/Y weighting. Relative depletion of substrate concentration was determined by calculating (prednisolone concentration at 45 min – prednisolone concentration at 0 min) / (prednisolone concentration at 0 min)* 100%. To determine any statistical significant difference in prednisolone concentration at 0 min vs 45 min, for both CYP3A4 and CYP3A5, a paired t-test was used. The extent of formation of 6β-OH-prednisolone by CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 was compared by assessment of the formation of 6β-OH-prednisolone after 45 min incubation in CYP3A5 microsomes relative to CYP3A4 microsomes.

3.4.1 Missing data/secondary exclusions

Paper I: one patient withdrew from the study after period IV. Due to acute rejection and subsequent plasmapheresis therapy on the day of sampling, samples from another patient were missed for periods II and III. Samples from a third patient were missed for period II due to illness on the sampling day. In period I, the AUC calculated was excluded for two patients, as the plasma concentration versus time curve did not show a distinct elimination phase.

Paper II: one patient missed four (C_3 , C_4 , C_{11} and C_{12}), and three patients missed each one of a total of 26 venous samples during the dose interval.

Paper III: one of the duplicate time points at 90 min, in one of the three rCYP3A5 experiments was identified as an outlier (Thompsons Tau test) and removed.

3.5 Ethical considerations

The studies were performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and guidelines for Good Clinical Practice. In **paper I**, the study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics. Informed written consent from the participants (if age 12–16 years) and their parents was obtained. In **paper II**, the study was approved by the Norwegian Medicine Agency (EudraCT number: 2015-004734-10) and the local ethics committee (reference number 2015/2098). All patients received verbal and written information and signed an informed consent form before study participation.

4. Summary of results

4.1 Paper I

Despite standardized (mg/kg) peroral dosing of prednisolone, a considerable IIV in prednisolone and prednisone plasma concentrations, the AUC_{dose} and CL/F for prednisolone, and prednisolone/prednisone (PL/PN) AUC was demonstrated in pediatric renal transplant recipients. The first week post-transplant, a 5 fold difference in AUC_{dose} between patients was observed, increasing to 7 fold difference when adjusted for dose and BW. The lowest dose-BW adjusted AUC_{dose} was observed in a patient identified as *CYP3A5*1*3* genotype. PL/PN AUC_{dose} ratios during the first 4 weeks post-transplant were high (median=11), indicating a high exposure of prednisolone, and tended to drop at 3 and 12 months posttransplant (median=7), coinciding with dose reduction. PL/PN AUC_{dose} ratios of 50 and 57 were observed in patients with concurrent intravenous methylprednisolone therapy. Throughout the study, 3 patients experienced insulindependent NODAT. When dose intervals with concurrent methylprednisolone therapy were omitted, higher PL/PN AUC_{dose} ratios (>12) were observed in these patients compared with the remaining population.

This pilot study suggests that there may be a potential for improvement of prednisolone therapy in children by individualization of dose, and even more so in the event that methylprednisolone is introduced.

4.2 Paper II

In **paper II**, prednisolone plasma concentrations of 28 adult renal transplant recipients receiving fixed doses of prednisolone, but no concurrent methylprednisolone therapy at the time of sample collection, showed a high prednisolone exposure (median prednisolone AUC_{dose} adjusted for dose-BW was 22379 [µg•h/L]/[mg/kg]), and a high PL/PN AUC_{dose} ratio (median =21). The CYP3A5 expressers (n=3) displayed a 25% lower prednisolone AUC_{dose} adjusted for dose-BW compared with CYP3A5 non-expressers (n=22). A large IIV was

observed, ranging from 3 fold for C_{max} and AUC_{dose} and up to 10 fold for T_{max} . The very low observed cortisol evening-to-morning ratio (median value of 0.1 as opposed to a normal value of 0.5) demonstrated a pronounced suppression of endogenous cortisol production. In fasting patients (n=8), a strong correlation between prednisolone AUC_{dose} and morning levels of cortisol (p<0.01, Spearman's Rho –0.833) was observed. A limited sample strategy (LSS) based on 3 pharmacokinetic sampling time points: 0, 2, and 4 hours after prednisolone dosing, predicted prednisolone AUC₀₋₂₄ well with a low percentage prediction error (PPE=5.2 ± 1.5%) and a good correlation of determination ($r^2 = 0.91$).

The results indicate that a more moderate dosing of prednisolone without affecting therapeutic efficacy may be possible, and emphasize the need for individualized prednisolone dosing. Utilizing the LSS described in **paper II** as a tool to provide reliable estimates of AUCs can potentially reduce variability and side effects while preserving protection against rejection.

4.3 Paper III

In **paper I** and **II**, the metabolic enzyme CYP3A5 was discussed as a potential contributor to the observed variability in prednisolone pharmacokinetics. In the literature, the role of CYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone has not been fully elucidated. Therefore, the metabolism of prednisolone by CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 was investigated in **paper III**. Through *in vitro* incubations using recombinant CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 insect cell microsomes, intrinsic clearance (CL_{int}) of prednisolone was determined by the substrate depletion approach. CL_{int} for prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was found to be less than 26% relative to rCYP3A4. Formation of 6 β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was less than 10% relative to rCYP3A4. The study indicates that 6 β -hydroxylation of prednisolone assessed *in vitro* in microsomes depends on rCYP3A4 rather than rCYP3A5, and that CYP3A5 may be responsible for the formation of other prednisolone metabolite(s) in addition to 6 β -OH-prednisolone.

5. General discussion

5.1 Methodological considerations

Study design:

The main strength in **paper I** was the follow up period of 12 months, allowing repeated pharmacokinetic investigations on a total of six occasions per patient. All samples were analyzed for cortisol and cortisone, as well as prednisolone and prednisone, which enabled us to study the impact of prednisolone therapy on the endogenous GC production. Due to the young age of the participants in this study, the number of blood samples drawn during a dose interval was limited to six. In **paper II**, the main strength was the rich sampling obtained following a morning dose of prednisolone. A total of 26 samples per 24-hour pharmacokinetic investigation were analyzed. This ensured detailed individual description of prednisolone, prednisone, cortisol, and cortisone pharmacokinetics during the full 24-hour interval.

The study designs in **paper I** and **II** were not powered for and designed to establish a significant association between genetic variants in *CYP3A* or *ABCB1* and prednisolone exposure. Additional pharmacogenetic analyses might further explain the observed variability. However, a larger population would be needed because of the rather low frequency of variants in relevant genes such as *HSD11B2*, *CYP3A*, and *ABCB1*.

Bioanalytical:

Total concentrations of prednisolone were measured because a HPLC-MSxMS method for quantification of total drug concentration was the only method available at the time. Changes in prednisolone binding proteins (CBG, albumin) may significantly alter total prednisolone levels whereas levels of unbound prednisolone are relatively preserved (section 1.7.2). A limitation in both **paper I** and **II** is the lack of data on the unbound fraction of prednisolone, which could have contributed to a better understanding of the pharmacokinetics of prednisolone and prednisolone. As the drug response correlates with the amount of unbound

prednisolone that binds to the GR, measuring the unbound fraction of prednisolone concentration might be the more useful way of monitoring drug exposure. On the other hand, measurement of unbound prednisolone requires separation of the unbound from the bound fraction, which in a routine setting is both time and labor-consuming. For this to be of value, the correlation between unbound prednisolone concentrations and clinical outcome should be higher compared with the correlation between total prednisolone measurements and clinical outcome.

The sample preparation in HPLC-MSxMS method used in paper I (110) was quite laborious and time consuming and the sample volume required for analysis was relatively large (500 μ L). In addition, the analysis run time for each sample was 12 minutes. A newer in-house HPLC-MSxMS method was therefore developed, and used in **Paper II** and **III** (111). This method required a smaller sample volume (125 µL), sample preparation was less cumbersome as the liquid/liquid extraction step was eliminated, and analysis run time was reduced to approximately 3.5 minutes. The between-runs coefficient of variation (CV) for all analytes were <15%, <10% and <7% in **paper I**, **II** and **III**, respectively, indicating an improvement in imprecision for the in-house method, although satisfactorily for both methods. The measurement range of the assay in **paper I** was 4.0-1000 μ g/L for prednisolone, 3.0-200 µg/L for prednisone, 3.0-400 µg/L for cortisol and 3.0- $200 \,\mu g/L$ for cortisone, whereas the measurement range of the assay in paper II was 1.7-1016 μ g/L for prednisolone, 0.4-242 μ g/L for prednisone, 0.7-400 μ g/L for cortisol and 0.3-160 µg/L for cortisone. The use of two different HPLC-MSxMS assays may have contributed to a bias in measured concentrations. In both assays, however, reagents used for the preparation of calibrators and quality controls were provided from the same manufacturer, and the sample preparations and analysis were performed in the same laboratory by the same personnel. To the best of our knowledge, there is no external quality assessment program for prednisolone, which could have controlled the accuracy of prednisolone measurements.

Ideally, each measured analyte should have its respective isotope labelled internal standard, for optimal quantification. However, in order to optimize experimental conditions, and due to observed interferences from some internal standards being tested, compounds with similar retention times and molecular structure were assigned a common internal standard (in **paper I**: prednisolone - cortisol, prednisone-cortisone, in **paper II**: prednisone - cortisone, in **paper II**: prednisolone - 6β-OH-prednisolone).

Pharmacokinetic:

Pharmacokinetic analyses were performed on a median dose of 15 mg prednisolone, which is higher than that in the long-term maintenance regimens (5–10 mg/day). Any potential association between pharmacokinetics and response should be evaluated over a wider range of dosages. Linear kinetics was assumed, which may be controversial at high prednisolone doses. Two-compartment models are sometimes used in prednisolone pharmacokinetic studies, and always after intravenous administration, but a one-compartment model as used in **paper I** and **II** is sufficient after oral administration (21).

Experimental:

In **paper III**, the substrate depletion method was used to assess the *in vitro* intrinsic clearance (CL_{int}) of prednisolone by rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5. Traditionally, in vitro measurements of CL_{int} in microsomes or hepatocytes are performed using the metabolite formation method. In such studies, the initial rate of metabolite production is measured over a range of substrate concentrations, under linear conditions with respect to protein concentration and time. The short incubation times (< 20 min) and low enzyme concentrations (0.01-0.2 mg/mL) (113) required in this method avoid the pitfalls of enzyme instability (due to long incubation time), non-specific binding (due to high enzyme concentrations) and end product-inhibition (due to phase I metabolite accumulation). On the flip side, the metabolite formation method assumes a prior knowledge of the particular metabolic pathways of the substrate studied, and their impact on the total metabolism of the drug, in order to provide a proper estimation of clearance (114).

This information was not available for prednisolone. In addition, a method for a precise quantification of the metabolite 6β -OH-prednisolone was not readily at hand, and a suitable isotope labelled internal standard for 6β -OH-prednisolone was lacking. The substrate depletion method, which does not require formal kinetic characterization or metabolite quantification, was therefore chosen. Compared with the metabolite formation method (113), this method uses longer incubation times and higher enzyme concentrations (up to 90 min(115) and 10 mg/ml (116)) have been reported, respectively), and the aforementioned pitfalls related to these aspects needed to be addressed. Evaluating the substrate depletion approach and its limitations, Jones and Houston (114) established a set of recommended incubation conditions for this method. In line with this, the enzyme concentrations were kept below 0.5 mg/mL, the prednisolone concentration of 0.5 µM was well below the apparent value of Km for rCYP3A4-mediated prednisolone metabolism, reported to be 40-166 µM (117) and incubation time was restricted to 45 minutes. Linearity studies were performed, to ensure correct use of a mono-exponential model when calculating the CL_{int} of prednisolone by rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5.

The experiments in **paper III** were conducted with recombinant CYP3A enzymes, which are artificial systems that need to be related to a tissue derived enzyme source before a comparison with human liver microsome data is possible. To convert the current results into *in vivo* relevance, scaling factors (e.g. a relative activity factor or an intersystem extrapolation factor) must be applied to the recombinant data. The assessment of such scaling factors was beyond the scope of this thesis.

The substrate depletion approach is associated with an increased imprecision, as measuring a depletion involves subtracting two large numbers (118). In addition, compared with microsomes, hepatocytes are reported to produce more accurate and precise predictions of CL_{int} (119). The quality control results indicate, however, that the measurements are precise, with an imprecision well below the observed changes in prednisolone concentrations.

5.2 Discussion of the results

5.2.1 Prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics in a pediatric renal transplant recipient population (Paper I)

In a cohort of pediatric renal transplant recipients, up to six 7- or 12-hour concentration-time profiles were obtained from eleven patients receiving per oral prednisolone over a period of 12 months (period I-VI). Data from patients with BW below 10 kg (n=2) deviated distinctly from the remaining population, and are commented separately in section 5.2.4.

A considerable IIV in prednisolone and prednisone plasma concentrations, the AUC_{dose} and CL/F for prednisolone was demonstrated. The pharmacokinetic profiles (period I, IV, V and VI) and parameters of prednisolone and prednisone (period I-VI) are given in **paper I**, figure 2 and table 3, respectively. The first week post-engraftment, the prednisolone dose-BW adjusted C_{max} was 658(257-1427) ng/mL/(mg/kg) and AUC_{dose} was 3818(1315-9647) ng*h/mL/(mg/kg), whereas CL/F was 8.4(3.7-16.5) L/h. Time to reach C_{max} (T_{max}) was 65(60-257) min, and the elimination half-life (T_{1/2}) was 3.3(2.6-6.7) hours. All values are given as median (range).

Studies on prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics in pediatric renal transplant recipients are limited. Results between studies may be challenging to compare, as there are differences in study approaches, patient diagnosis, dose regimens, assay methods and parameters assessed. The time interval over which the AUC of prednisolone is estimated varies, and the estimated AUC value is rarely dose-BW adjusted. Sagcal-Gironella et al. (120) obtained and analyzed full 9-hour pharmacokinetic profiles in eight patients (12-28 years) with systemic lupus erythematosus receiving 20(5-40) mg of prednisolone. The total prednisolone levels adjusted for dose and BW observed in this study (C_{max} 1097(301-2211) ng/mL/(mg/kg), AUC₀₋₉ 4361(1136-9580) ng*h/mL/(mg/kg), and $T_{1/2}$ 2.6 hours) corresponded well with our observations in period I-IV, whereas CL/F was reported slightly higher (11.4(6.7-13.7) L/h). Conversely, in children with nephrotic syndrome in active phase, Gatti et al. (121) reported a dose-BW

adjusted AUC₀₋₂₄ of 1393(1054-1821) ng*h/mL/(mg/kg), and $T_{1/2}$ of 2.6 hours) whereas CL/F was (22.4(15.3-42.1) L/h. Median prednisolone dose was 60 mg, median albumin level was 13 (10-28) g/L. Both high dosing and hypoalbuminemia increase CL/F of prednisolone, which most likely caused the low AUC observed in Gatti's study. The elimination half-life of prednisolone however, is fairly stable regardless of dose. In the present study, the $T_{1/2}$ remained constant throughout the follow-up period, consistent with findings in other studies (122-124).

The variability in total prednisolone AUC_{dose} between patients in the current study was 5 fold, increasing to 7 fold when adjusted for dose and BW. An even larger (8 fold) IIV in dose-BW adjusted AUC was observed in the study of Sagcal-Gironella et al. (120). A 3-4 fold IIV in prednisolone AUC₀₋₈ were also reported in pediatric patients with nephrotic syndrome (122) and in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (125), whereas Petersen et al. (123) observed a prednisolone AUC₀₋₈ and estimated CL that differed less than 2 fold among individuals in a population of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. His findings were supported by Teeninga et al., reporting a modest IIV (CV=44.7%) in CL among children with nephrotic syndrome (126). In the last two studies, unbound prednisolone was measured, which may in part explain the lower IIV compared with the current study.

During the first 4 weeks post-engraftment, the PL/PN AUC_{dose} ratios were high and displayed a considerable IIV (median 11, range 7-56) (**Paper I**, table 5), both of which may be caused by the high prednisolone dosage early post-transplant and the dose-dependent pharmacokinetics of prednisolone. However, the high exposure of prednisolone and larger PL/PN AUC_{dose} ratio can also be explained by an increased expression or activity of 11β-HSD1 (converting prednisone to prednisolone) or a reduced activity of 11β-HSD2 (inactivating prednisolone). GC themselves induce expression and activity of the11β-HSD1 enzyme. Hence, prednisolone therapy contributed to a positive feed-back loop that may have enhanced prednisolone exposure in this study (18). Expression of 11β-HSD2 is reduced in patients with renal failure (127, 128), which may have influenced the

prednisolone exposure in patient 1, 2 and 5 (**Paper I**, table 5), as their creatinine levels were 5-9 fold the upper reference limit. Gene variants that significantly impair 11 β -HSD2 function have been reported in *HSD11B2* exons 2, 3 and 5 (57, 68). Sequencing *HSD11B2* exons 2, 3 and 5 in patient samples from the current study did not reveal any gene variants with functional impact on 11 β -HSD2, however. At high GC concentrations, the capacity of 11 β -HSD2 is challenged, prednisone levels stagnate, and the PL/PN AUC ratio promptly escalates, as reported by Saeves et al. (129). In our study, the two PL/PN AUC_{dose} ratios of 50 and 56 (**Paper I**, table 5) were observed in patients with concurrent intravenous methylprednisolone therapy, and a saturation of 11 β -HSD2 may be the most likely explanation to the high levels.

Throughout the study, the three patients with the highest PL/PN AUC_{dose} ratios experienced insulin-dependent NODAT. When dose intervals with concurrent methylprednisolone therapy were omitted, the individual mean PL/PN AUC_{dose} ratios observed in these patients stayed high (range 12-15) compared with the remaining population (range 7-11) (**Paper I**, table 5). One of the three patients did not receive methylprednisolone therapy. In the literature, there is strong evidence to support that high prednisolone exposure causes diabetes or hyperglycemia (130, 131), supporting a theory that a high PL/PN AUC ratio may be a risk factor for NODAT. Tacrolimus is also a well-known risk factor for diabetes. In our study, trough concentrations of tacrolimus were within target. However, the risk of NODAT may have been increased by the combination of tacrolimus and prednisolone.

As prednisone is not biologically active, it may seem that monitoring of prednisolone concentrations should suffice as a tool to individualize dosing of prednisolone. But knowing that prednisolone concentrations not only vary with dose but also with the expression and activity of 11β -HSD isoenzymes, the prednisone concentrations should be taken into account. Exceptionally high and/or consistent PL/PN AUC ratios may provide valuable information about the causes of the increased prednisolone exposure, and may be signaling a possible drug-drug

interaction or an impairment involving 11 β -HSD isoenzymes that should be further investigated. The use of a PL/PN AUC ratio as a marker of 11 β -HSD activity may, however, be limited by the fact that the plasma ratio does not necessarily reflect the local prednisolone and prednisone concentrations in different tissues. As described in 1.7.1, the distribution of the isoenzymes 11 β -HSD 1 and 2 is tissue specific. A plasma PL/PN ratio may rather be interpreted as an indirect measure of the mean ratio of 11 β -HSD1 and 2 expression and activity in the body, where the hepatic contribution is dominant.

Altogether, a large intra-individual variability in prednisolone exposure in pediatric renal transplant patients receiving BW adjusted prednisolone dosing was demonstrated in this study. The findings indicate that there may be a potential for improvement of prednisolone therapy in children by individualization of dose, and even more so in the event that methylprednisolone is introduced.

5.2.2 Prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics in an adult renal transplant recipient population (Paper II)

In a population of 28 adult renal transplant recipients receiving fixed doses of prednisolone, a 24-hour concentration-time profile was obtained within 4-6 weeks post-engraftment. The main findings in the study were a relatively high exposure of prednisolone, a high plasma PL/PN AUC_{dose} ratio and a large (3-4 fold) interindividual variability (IIV) in pharmacokinetic parameters, even after adjusting for dose and BW. The pharmacokinetic profiles and parameters of prednisolone and prednisone are given in **paper II**, figure 1 and table 2, respectively. The prednisolone C_{max} was 482 (271-912) ng/mL, AUC_{dose} was 3821 (2232-5382) ng*h/mL, whereas CL/F was 3.8(2.5-6.7) L/h. Time to reach C_{max} (T_{max}) was 155(31-299) min, and the elimination half-life (T_{1/2}) was 3.8(2.8-5.3) hours. All values are given as median (range).

The median peak prednisolone concentration level (C_{max}) and $T_{1/2}$ value observed in our study concurred with previous prednisolone pharmacokinetic studies in

solid organ transplant patients, whereas the prednisolone AUCdose values observed were higher (129, 130, 132-134). Studies using a lower prednisolone dose than in the current study observed lower prednisolone AUCs (130, 135). In some studies, adjusting the AUC values by dose or by dose and BW settled the differences in AUC levels (131), in other studies it did not (129, 132). In several of the prednisolone pharmacokinetic studies in the literature, the prednisolone AUC values were based on a shorter time interval than in our study (e.g. AUC_{0-8} as opposed to AUC_{0-24}), leading to a smaller AUC (134, 136, 137). In line with this, the prednisolone AUC₀₋₂₄ value of 2900 (1900-4000) ng*h/mL reported in a study by Ost et al. (138) was closer to the prednisolone AUC_{dose} value observed in the current study. The number of samples obtained in the study by Öst, however, were fewer (n=9). When the number of samples during a dose interval is sparse, the true C_{max} may pass undetected, and the AUC may be underestimated. As many as 26 venous samples were obtained during a 24-h dose interval in the current study, and this rich data set may have contributed to a larger AUC value. Accordingly, Barraclough et al. (139) reported a dose-adjusted prednisolone AUC_{0-12} (based on 13 venous samples) of 225±54 (ng*h/mL)/mg (mean±1SD) in a cohort of adult renal transplant recipients. This finding corresponds well with the dose-adjusted AUC_{dose} of 261 (149-402) (ng*h/mL)/mg (median, range) observed in our study.

In contrast to tacrolimus pharmacokinetic reports (140), fasting status presented little influence on the resulting prednisolone AUC_{dose} (**paper II**, table 3). Additional factors that may have contributed to influence the level of and IIV in prednisolone AUC_{dose} in this study are discussed in section 5.2.4.

The high prednisolone exposure observed was paralleled by strong suppression of the endogenous cortisol and cortisone profiles (**Paper II**, figure 1), with a considerable IIV in total cortisol AUC₀₋₂₄ and morning cortisol levels (**Paper II**, table 2). The strong suppression of the HPA-axis was demonstrated by a very low cortisol evening-to-morning ratio when compared with a normal cortisol reference interval (0.1 versus 0.5). Among the morning cortisol profiles obtained, 50% were below the normal morning reference interval for adults > 16 years (50-230 μ g/L).

A strong correlation was observed between prednisolone AUC₀₋₂₄ and cortisol morning levels (p<0.01, Spearman's Rho -0.833) in fasting patients (n=8).

The results indicate that renal transplant recipients (RTR) treated with prednisolone according to standard protocol experience a considerable suppression of endogenous cortisol production which (under fasting conditions) increases with increasing prednisolone exposure. The findings are in line with previous studies demonstrating suppression of endogenous GC production in solid organ recipients receiving chronic prednisolone treatment (129, 141, 142). Our study was not designed to investigate a possible relationship between the degree of suppression of the endogenous cortisol production and pharmacological effects of prednisolone, for which a follow-up study over several years is needed. This is, however, evaluated in a study by de Vries et al. (143), investigating stable RTR chronically treated with prednisolone (n = 563) at median 6 years post-transplant. Using 24-h urinary cortisol excretion as measures for HPA-axis activity, de Vries et al. found that a higher degree of HPA-axis suppression is associated with higher prevalence of metabolic syndrome. Patients with the lowest amount of endogenous cortisol production displayed significantly higher body weight, higher BMI, higher waist circumference, higher fasting triglycerides and a higher prevalence of NODAT. Importantly, an association between daily prednisolone dose and any of the metabolic parameters was not found. The hypothesis that endogenous cortisol production is associated with the pharmacological effects of prednisolone is also supported in a recent study by Vulto et al. (144) They investigated whether there were differences in endogenous GC production and 11^βHSD1 activity in RTR treated with prednisolone (n=693) versus healthy controls (n=275), and whether there were implications for long-term survival. Vulto et al. found that urinary excretion of cortisol and its metabolites were decreased in RTR compared with healthy controls, and that this was associated with an increased risk of mortality long-term after renal transplantation. Although a causal relationship is not established, these results taken together indicate that assessment of the endogenous cortisol production may be a useful tool in monitoring pharmacological effects of prednisolone.

The plasma cortisol /cortisone AUC $_{0-24}$ ratio of 8 (6-15) observed in the current study was high compared with healthy controls (145). Correspondingly, Vulto et al. reported increased urinary ratios of cortisol/cortisone and their corresponding metabolites in the RTR group compared with healthy controls. Furthermore, they found a significant correlation between high ratios and an increased risk of mortality long-term after renal transplantation. Gant et al. observed that both urinary ratios of cortisol/cortisone and their corresponding metabolites in patients with type 2 diabetes were higher compared with healthy controls, and that ratios were highest in patients with concurrent lower renal function (146). A higher ratio of active vs inactive GCs in plasma or urine indicates that the peripheral GC balance as maintained by 11β-HSD enzymes has shifted toward an increase in 11 β -HSD1 activity and/or a reduction in 11 β -HSD2 activity. This highlights the importance of measuring the inactive compound when evaluating GC pharmacokinetics, as it provides important information about GC metabolism. Possible mechanisms underlying altered 11β-HSD enzyme activities are further discussed in section 5.2.1 and 5.2.4.

In conclusion, the observed IIV in prednisolone pharmacokinetics in this study confirms reports in the literature of high inter-individual variability in systemic prednisolone exposure (43, 120, 130, 132, 147), and emphasizes the need for improvements in prednisolone dosing regimens. Assessment of endogenous GC production and their metabolites in plasma or urine may be a useful tool in monitoring pharmacological effects of prednisolone. To further investigate the potential for individualized dosing of prednisolone, utilizing AUC has been suggested. Based on the findings in paper II, the relationship between prednisolone exposure and prednisolone pharmacokinetic parameters for the purpose of TDM are further discussed in section 5.2.5

5.2.3 The relative importance of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone *in vitro* (Paper III)

In **paper I**, we found that the patient with the lowest dose-BW adjusted prednisolone AUC_{dose} and the highest prednisolone CL/F was a CYP3A5 expresser (*1/*3) (**paper I**, figure 3, patient 4). Furthermore, in **paper II** we noticed that three CYP3A5 expressers (*1/*3) presented a mean dose-BW adjusted prednisolone AUC_{dose} which was 25% lower compared with CYP3A5 non-expressers (n=25), (16411 vs 21984 μ g*h/L/(mg/kg)). (111). Inspired by these findings, we sought to further investigate the degree of involvement of the CYP3A4 and 5 isoenzymes in the metabolism of prednisolone. Therefore, in **paper III**, the relative contribution of rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone was examined *in vitro* by way of a substrate depletion study.

The results showed that the CL_{int} for prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was less than 26% relative to rCYP3A4 in microsomes, whereas formation of 6 β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was less than 10% relative to rCYP3A4. These results suggest that prednisolone is metabolized by rCYP3A4, but do not support rCYP3A5 to be of major importance. In addition, the observed discrepancy between CL_{int} for prednisolone and metabolite formation by rCYP3A5 relative to rCYP3A4 (26% and 10%, respectively) indicate that rCYP3A5 may be responsible for the formation of one or more prednisolone metabolite(s) in addition to the 6 β -OH-prednisolone detected.

Previous *in vitro* studies evaluating the role of rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone in particular are scant (117, 148), but similar studies on the metabolism of steroids other than prednisolone are available (87-89, 149). Taken together, these reports seem to concur regarding rCYP3A4 being the preferred rCYP3A enzyme responsible for the 6β-hydroxylation activity in prednisolone metabolism.

Pharmacokinetic drug-drug interaction studies have demonstrated that coadministration of CYP3A inducers may cause an increase in clearance and decreased half-life of prednisolone (21). Conversely, CYP3A inhibitors have been

shown to increase prednisolone exposure (150, 151). A major challenge in interpreting the data from these studies is the well-documented phenomenon of auto-induction of CYP3A enzymes by GCs themselves (152-154). Fluticasone has been shown to have the potential to inhibit CYP3A5, but not CYP3A4, in a time dependent manner (155), but to our best knowledge, this is not demonstrated for prednisolone.

CYP3A5 and CYP3A4 have a wide range of overlapping substrate specificities, due to the high (84%) homology between the enzymes (156). However, despite largely sharing the same set of substrates, there are differences between the two isoenzymes regarding catalytic efficiency, and susceptibility to inhibitors. Results from studies using molecular docking simulations indicate that altered accessibility of substrates and inhibitors to the heme moiety of CYP3A molecules, which is a preferred location for oxidation at C6 β position, may be a possible explanation for the difference in affinity between CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 (157, 158).

Based on reports that 6β-hydroxylation of cortisol is catalyzed by the isoenzymes CYP3A4 (86) and CYP3A5 (87), these enzymes have also been assumed to be partially involved in prednisolone metabolism. Due to differences in physicochemical properties, the various GCs differ in how they are influenced by other drugs (21). The pharmacokinetic characteristics of one glucocorticoid cannot be simply replaced by another. When also the (small) difference in CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 substrate specificity is taken into account, assumptions regarding the metabolism and pharmacokinetic properties of prednisolone based on pharmacokinetic studies of other GCs seem unfortunate. Direct studies on the metabolism of prednisolone by either CYP3A4 and/or CYP3A5 should be further investigated.

Microsomal systems are known to underestimate CL_{int} in vivo, since they lack certain enzyme and transporter activities which are present in the human hepatocyte (113, 114). The results from this study should therefore be corroborated in human liver microsomes. Additionally, clinical studies allowing a

comparison of prednisolone metabolism between CYP3A5 expressers and nonexpressers, where also a potential effect of a CYP3A inhibitor is evaluated, are necessary to quantify the eventual contribution by CYP3A5-mediated metabolism of prednisolone in a clinical setting.

5.2.4 Variability in prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics

The concentration-dependent kinetics of prednisolone, causing increased total body clearance with increasing plasma concentrations, is a major contributor to the IIV in the pharmacokinetics of prednisolone (76). Indeed, dose has been found to account for up to 42% of the variability in prednisolone pharmacokinetics (159). In **paper I**, the patient receiving the highest mg/BW dosage, also displayed the largest BW adjusted CL/F and a correspondingly low dose-BW adjusted AUC_{dose} (**paper I**, figure 3, patient 4). Furthermore, the decline in IIV throughout one year of follow-up coincided with dose reduction (**paper I**, figure 2), although this may also reflect normalization of organ function. Yet, in both **paper I** and **II**, a considerable IIV in prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetic parameters remained after adjusting for dose and BW, indicating that additional factors influenced the pharmacokinetics of prednisolone and prednisolene.

Protein-binding

With reference to the protein-binding profiles of prednisolone and prednisone (section 1.7.2), clinical conditions causing changes in plasma-protein levels may alter the pharmacokinetics of these drugs. Hypoalbuminemia is associated with a decreased protein binding of prednisolone and prednisone. The initial increase in unbound prednisolone leads to a more rapid drug elimination, and a decrease in total prednisolone exposure (73, 122, 160-162). Consistent with this, one patient in **paper I** who experienced a relapse of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis presented a distinct increase in CL/F paralleled by a reduction in adjusted AUC_{dose} in period VI (**paper I**, figure 3, patient 9). Conversely, the use of estrogen therapy or oral contraceptives has been shown to increase CBG levels and plasma protein-binding, leading to a decrease in CL of prednisolone and higher total prednisolone

exposure (76, 137, 163, 164). In **paper II**, median albumin levels were within normal range (40(37-45) g/L). Of the seven female participants in **paper II**, five were between 22 and 49 years, two were 70 and 71. Data regarding estrogen therapy or oral contraceptives was not obtained and CBG levels were not monitored, both of which could have added further information.

Renal and hepatic impairment

There is strong evidence that uremic toxins reduce CYP-mediated metabolism through direct inhibition or by transcriptional downregulation, as reviewed by Ladda and Goralski (165). The effect of uremia on CYP metabolism is initially reversed by renal transplantation, but due to relapse of original disease or use of nephrotoxic drugs, renal function is impaired to varying degrees in many transplant recipients. In **paper II**, a negative correlation between measured glomerular filtration rate (mGFR) and dose-BW-adjusted AUC_{dose} of prednisolone was noticed (p<0.044, Spearman's Rho -0.383). In patients with mGFR \leq 45 mL/min (n=10), the median dose-BW-adjusted AUC_{dose} was 22% higher (24026 vs 19691 µg*h/L/(mg/kg)) when compared with patients with mGFR>45 ml/min (n=18). A study by Bergrem et al. supports this observation, reporting that uremic patients have a longer elimination half-time, a larger AUC and a lower renal clearance of total and unbound prednisolone compared with healthy controls (166).

The impact of hepatic dysfunction on changes in prednisolone exposure is unresolved, and concurrent hypoalbuminemia may confound results (43, 167). A reduced hepatic 11 β -HSD1activity has been suggested to cause low plasma concentrations of prednisolone (168). However, in non-transplant patients with various liver diseases, Renner et al. (169) demonstrated increased concentrations of both total and unbound prednisolone with decreasing liver function. The possible impact of an impaired 11 β -HSD1activity was explained balanced by the reduced metabolic clearance of prednisolone. In line with this, the metabolism of

prednisolone has been shown to be slower in renal and liver transplant recipients, yielding a higher prednisolone AUC compared with healthy volunteers (136).

Diabetes

Diabetes has been associated with a higher dose-adjusted AUC of prednisolone (131), possibly explained by a shift in the balance between 11 β -HSD1 vs 2 (as discussed in section 5.2.1) or due to a reduction of CYP3A metabolism (170). In **paper I**, the three patients experiencing insulin-dependent NODAT also presented the highest prednisolone exposure in the group. In **paper II**, however, three patients with long term diabetes presented prednisolone AUC_{dose} levels close to median values.

CYP3A, P-glycoprotein and the pregnane X receptor

Gene variants and drug interactions that influence the expression or activity of the CYP3A enzymes and P-glycoprotein (P-gp) may also account for variability in prednisolone concentrations or exposure.

In **paper I** and **II**, a lower dose-BW adjusted prednisolone AUC_{dose} was noticed in patients with a functional *CYP3A5*1* allele. There are conflicting opinions regarding the influence of CYP3A activity on prednisolone metabolism (21, 43, 126, 162) (see section 5.2.3). Direct studies on the influence of CYP3A enzymes on prednisolone metabolism *in vivo* are sparse. Miura et al. compared CYP3A5 genotypes among renal transplant recipients and found no significant differences in prednisolone pharmacokinetics (135), whereas in a cohort of children with nephrotic syndrome, Chiou et al. found a trend of association between CYP3A5 expressers and sensitivity to prednisolone (171). The role of CYP3A enzymes, and in particular CYP3A5, in prednisolone metabolism *in vivo* remains unclear.

The P-gp efflux pump works in synergy with CYP3A enzymes and plays an important role in absorption and metabolism of prednisolone and prednisone. In **paper I**, two patients were homozygous for all three of the most common genetic variants in the gene encoding the P-gp (*ABCB1* (C1236T, *G*2677T/A, *C*3435T)). Interestingly, these two patients presented the largest and the lowest dose-BW

adjusted AUC_{dose}, respectively (figure 3, patient 3 and 4). A positive correlation between P-gp expression and total prednisone dose in children with nephrotic syndrome was demonstrated in a study by Wasilewska et al. (172). However, a confounding factor is that glucocorticoids themselves induce P-gp expression (173, 174). The association of P-gp polymorphisms with responsiveness to GCs has been evaluated in several studies, but the results have been conflicting (28, 43, 162).

The pregnane X receptor (PXR), encoded by the *NR112* gene, regulates the expression of both *CYP3A* and *ABCB1* genes. Activation of PXR, i.e. by steroids, leads to upregulation of an array of drug detoxification genes, including *CYP3A* and *ABCB1* (175). Miura et al. (135) evaluated the influence of *CYP3A5*, *ABCB1* and *NR112* polymorphisms on prednisolone plasma concentrations in renal transplant recipients, 28 days post-engraftment. In this study population, there was no significant difference in prednisolone pharmacokinetics between groups having the *CYP3A5* (A6986G) or *ABCB1* (C1236T, *G*2677T/A, *C*3435T) genotypes. Rather, a polymorphism in *NR112* (A7635G) was associated with a high metabolic activity of prednisolone with subsequent reduction in prednisolone plasma concentrations (135).

Prednisolone exposure is dependent on the interplay between drug transporters and enzymes in the prednisolone and prednisone metabolic pathways. An altered exposure of prednisolone exposure due to genetics may be the result of a combination of polymorphisms in more than one of the relevant genes, and should be investigated as such. To date, the number of studies investigating an effect of genetic variants on prednisolone pharmacokinetics is small, and although there may be a potential association, a conclusion is not possible.

Age, sex and body composition

Comparing adults (**paper II**) with children (**paper I**) at four weeks posttransplant, there were distinct differences in prednisolone pharmacokinetic parameters (table 2). The median prednisolone AUC_{dose} in adults, was about 1.6 fold higher compared with the median prednisolone AUC_{dose} observed in children, increasing to 6 fold when adjusting for dose and BW. In addition to a longer doseinterval and richer sampling in **paper II**, physiological age differences in clearance may explain the larger prednisolone AUC_{dose} in adults. **Renal** clearance per kg BW is higher and may lead to a lower prednisolone exposure in children vs adults, and also in younger compared with older children (123, 125, 147, 176). The two patients with BW<10 kg in **paper I** presented a 25% lower mean prednisolone C₂ and a 40% higher prednisone C₂ in periods I–IV, hence their PL/PN C₂ ratios were low (4-8) compared with the main group (11-13). Although these two patients received higher mg per BW dosage than the main group, the higher clearance in younger children may have led to lower concentrations, leaving the 11β -HSD2 enzyme unsaturated. Metabolic clearance per kg BW is also lower in adults compared with children and decreases with age (176). Hence, saturation of enzymatic capacity may occur at lower prednisolone concentrations in adults compared with children, which in case will lead to a lower CL and larger AUC in adults. In children receiving a single dose of prednisolone (177), Green et al reported a shorter $T_{1/2}$ of total prednisolone compared with adult reference values, supporting our own observations (table 2). The 2-3 fold difference in T_{max} between children and adults is explained by fasting vs non-fasting conditions. Within the adult population in **paper II**, however, age did not correlate with total AUC_{dose} of prednisolone. In line with this, Miura et al. (178) found no influence of aging on the pharmacokinetics of prednisolone in renal transplant recipients one month post-transplant. Conversely, Stuck et al. (179) found a lower non-renal and renal clearance of prednisolone in elderly (65-89 years) compared with young (23-34 years) individuals.

		Prednisolone			Prednisone		
		Adults		Children		Adults	Children
Prednisolone dose		15 (7.5–20) mg		0.53 mg/kg			
C _{max}	[µg/L]	482	(271-912)	450	(300-615)	18.4 (10-31)	35 (18-53)
C _{max} /(dose/BW)	[µg/L]/[mg/kg]	2728	(1514-4190)	932	(587-1618)	97.3 (48-186)	65 (33–102)
AUC ₀₋₂₄	[µg*h/L]	3821	(2232-5382)	2422	(1769-3284)	171 (100-237)	233 (125-419)
AUC ₀₋₂₄ /(dose/BW) [µg*h/L]/[mg/kg]		22379	(12932-31611)	3868	(3612-12561)	892 (607-1650)	430 (232-888)
T _{max}	(min)	155	(31-299)	65	(60-125)	179 (150-541)	71 (60-265)
T _{1/2}	(h)	3.8	(2.8-5.3)	2.5	(1.8-4.5)	3.3 (2.4-5.8)	3 (1.6-5.8)
CL/F	(L/h)	3.8	(2.5-6.7)	7.3	(4.2-10.9)		
C _{max} ratio		27	(16-46)	14.5	(9-25)		
AUC ratio		21	(15-37)	8.6	(7-21)		

Table 2: Pharmacokinetics of total prednisone and prednisolone, 4 weeks post-transplant: adults (paper II) versus children (paper I)

In **paper II**, females presented significant higher dose-BW adjusted prednisolone C_{max} compared with males (3009 vs 2676 µg/L/(mg/kg), whereas a corresponding sex difference in dose-BW adjusted prednisolone AUC_{dose} was not observed. Studies in solid organ transplant recipients as well as healthy volunteers have reported that female sex is associated with a lower CL/F and/or a higher exposure of total and unbound prednisolone (137, 180). Investigating prednisolone pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers, Suarez-Kurz et al. (181) revealed no effect of sex in C_{max} or total AUC₀₋₂₄, whereas the mean CL/F was observed higher (26%) in males than in females. Morton et al. (159) found a higher total prednisolone AUC₀₋₆ in female compared with male lung transplant recipients (456 vs 304 µg/L/mg, p<0.02), but implied that a reduced body surface area in females accounted for the difference observed.

Investigating the influence of body composition on prednisolone pharmacokinetics in solid organ transplantation, Milsap et al. (182) demonstrated a considerable higher CL/F of prednisolone and a lower total and unbound prednisolone AUC in obese vs normal weight individuals. They hypothesized that due to the presence of

11 β -HSD enzymes in abdominal adipose tissue, it may represent a peripheral site for distribution and clearance of prednisolone. Adipose tissue depots in obese subjects do express 11 β -HSD1 (but not 11 β -HSD2), and perhaps to a larger extent in human visceral than subcutaneous fat (18). An increased 11β -HSD1 activity is observed in human adipose tissue (183), possibly due to enhanced glucose availability (184), favoring the conversion from inactive to active GC (57, 185). Thus, active GC induces expression and activity of the 11β -HSD1 enzyme, providing a positive feed-back loop for increased levels of active GC. This fatspecific 11β -HSD1 excess in central obesity, named "Cushing's disease of the omentum" is associated with insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome, but the impact on prednisolone plasma levels is not unraveled. Notably, in the small single study by Milsap et al., the PL/PN ratio was reported similar in both obese and nonobese individuals. In paper I, one single patient presented a BMI of 36, whereas in the remaining patients the BMI ranged from 14-19, with a median value of 16. In **paper II**, the BMI ranged from 18-30, with a median value of 26. Given the narrow range of BMI values observed, an investigation of the effect of obesity on prednisolone pharmacokinetics in this population was not considered as informative.

5.2.5 Is there a potential for individualized dosing of prednisolone in solid organ transplantation?

In the meta-analysis by Haller et al. (50) it was also noted that since long-term studies on GC avoidance and withdrawal are lacking, the consequences of these regimens are unknown. In addition, studies comparing steroid vs. non-steroid regimens often discuss clinical outcomes without reference to GC dose, drug-drug interactions or individual variability in metabolism, which makes interpretation of the data difficult (186). A standardized evaluation of GCs is necessary if the side effects of a chronic low-dose of prednisolone should be weighed against the risk of reduced kidney function caused by the nephrotoxic CNIs or graft rejection.

To perform responsible drug tapering, a marker or panel of markers to predict and monitor immunological risk is necessary (186), yet there are no such monitoring available for GCs. In both **paper I and II**, a relatively high prednisolone exposure was observed, indicating that a more moderate dosing of prednisolone may be possible. TDM of prednisolone can be used as a guide for the rate of drug reduction. Aided by monitoring of prednisolone AUC₀₋₆, Morton et al. proved a substantial reduction of prednisolone dose in lung transplant recipients, without any short term adverse effects (159). Conversely, many patients that were initially off prednisolone experience a return to prednisolone therapy due to increased risk of rejection. In these cases, monitoring of prednisolone concentrations may contribute to identify the lowest dose providing sufficient efficacy for each individual. Lastly, TDM of any drug, including prednisolone, is useful for investigating suspected drug to drug interactions or unforeseen toxicities. In paper I, altered prednisolone and prednisone exposure was observed in patients receiving intravenous methylprednisolone, indicating that prednisolone dosing can be reduced with concurrent methylprednisolone therapy.

With reference to the requirements for TDM to be of value (see section 1.8), prednisolone is generally considered to have a wide therapeutic window, i.e. the difference between therapeutic and toxic concentrations is perceived as wide and TDM has been regarded as unnecessary (137, 187). However, although prednisolone therapy is associated with a plethora of adverse effects, toxicity is usually reported on *doses*, whereas the drug *concentration* is usually not measured. The relationship between prednisolone dose and concentration is poor and unpredictable, due to the large inter-individual pharmacokinetic variability well documented in **paper I and II** and other studies (120, 130, 132, 147, 159). Several studies have reported an association between prednisolone exposure and clinical outcome: between unbound prednisolone and post-challenge hyperglycemia (130), total or unbound prednisolone and tushingoid features (120, 133, 134, 137, 188, 189), total or unbound prednisolone and hypertension or diabetes (131, 159) and between glucocorticoid exposure and growth inhibition (42, 190, 191), all suggesting a potential role for prednisolone TDM. Conversely,

there are also studies that have failed to find such an association, questioning the value of pharmacokinetic monitoring alone (79, 122, 126, 192). Importantly, all the studies referred to above differ with regard to study population, type of assay used for analysis, whether unbound versus total prednisolone was measured, and number of samples within a dose interval. The calculated AUCs span from 0 to 5, 6, 8, 9, 12 or 24 hours, which cause variability in the estimations. In addition, there are wide differences in prednisolone doses given and length of follow-up. This lack of standardization may have contributed to the ambiguity in the results. But evidently, variations in the pharmacodynamics of prednisolone, notably polymorphisms in the GR, also contribute to the variability in clinical response to prednisolone therapy, and need attention (21, 43). Another prerequisite for pharmacokinetic TDM is an assay for determination of drug concentrations. Earlier, the most commonly used methodology used for measuring GCs were immunoassays, which were hampered with cross-reactivity of prednisolone and cortisol. This made interpretation of the data difficult. The advent of chromatography combined with tandem mass spectrometry has ensured accurate methods for measuring both total and unbound prednisolone. Finally, a therapeutic range is called for. This requires a better knowledge of the prednisolone pharmacokinetics within different subpopulations. Alternatively: the patient may serve as his/her own control over time, i.e. an individual therapeutic range. In both situations, TDM would be a valuable tool.

A full AUC is the best marker of drug exposure. Single point measures are frequently used as surrogate markers, but do not always correlate well with the AUC. Another option is the LSSs, using an equation derived from multiple linear regression analysis to estimate exposure based on one or a few concentrations collected during the dose interval. In **paper II**, the correlation between prednisolone AUC_{dose} and prednisolone concentrations were investigated in adult renal transplant recipients. The best single point prednisolone concentration to predict prednisolone AUC₀₋₂₄ was C₆ (r^2 =0.82; mean PPE 7.4 ±2.0%), whereas an LSS incorporating C₀, C₂ and C₄ estimated the prednisolone AUC₀₋₂₄ with an even better accuracy (r^2 =0.91; mean PPE 5.2 ±1.5%). When tested on three renal
transplant recipients outside of the study population, the LSS showed acceptable performance as their predicted AUC_{0-24} deviated from their actual AUC_{0-24} by solely 7, -4 and 2%. If these results can be validated in an independent population, this LSS offers a clinical practical sample strategy to estimate total prednisolone exposure in a similar population.

In the literature, there are limited reports regarding the use of TDM in prednisolone therapy. The study of Suarez-Kurz et al. explored LSS strategies for predicting total prednisolone AUC_{$0-\infty$} in a population of 24 healthy subjects (12 females), ingesting a prednisone dose of 20 mg. The results showed that single point regression equations ($C_{1.5}$ or C_7) provided precise estimates of total prednisolone AUC $_{0-\infty}$, whereas combining single point measurements into a two point LSS marginally improved the performance (181). The inter-individual variability in healthy individuals is markedly lower than the inter-individual variability observed in renal transplant recipients, which may partly explain the higher correlation coefficient between $AUC_{0-\infty}$ estimated with $AUC_{0-\infty}$ measured $(r^2=0.98)$ achieved in the study of Suarez-Kurz compared with the corresponding correlation in **paper II**. This is demonstrated in a study by Potter et al., presenting a stronger correlation between prednisolone plasma concentration/mg 2- hours post-dose (C₂/mg) with AUC₀₋₆/mg for healthy controls ($r^2=0.994$, p<0.001) compared with renal transplant recipients ($r^2=0.682$, p<0.001) (137). In a population of lung transplant recipients, Morton et al. examined the predictive value of prednisolone single point measures on the measured prednisolone AUC₀₋₆ (both parameters dose-adjusted), finding C_2/mg to be the most useful single time point ($r^2=0.948$). The best LSS equation to predict total prednisolone AUC₀₋₆/mg included C₁, C₂ and C₄/mg (r^2 =0.992), which also gave acceptable predictions when later tested on follow-up AUCs (100% of values within 10% of the measured AUC₀₋₆/mg) (159).

A major limitation to the LSS is that its application should be restricted to the patient population and the dosage regimen used when the LSS was developed (193). The predictive power of the LSS cannot be guaranteed in patient

subpopulations or where the dose regimen is changed, and possibly subject to drug-drug interactions. Nonetheless, evaluating the LSS strategies earlier reported (159, 181), Barraclough et al. found an acceptable predictive power of prednisolone AUC₀₋₁₂ in their cohort of renal transplant recipients, reporting a bias and imprecision below 15% (139). Furthermore, Barraclough et al. observed only moderate correlation between dose-adjusted unbound and total prednisolone AUC₀₋₁₂ values in patients > 3 months post-transplant ($r^2=0.79$, p<0.0001). An even weaker correlation ($r^2=0.42$, p<0.04) was observed in the early posttransplant period, when prednisolone doses were higher. The poor correlation early post-transplant was explained by the non-linear increase in unbound fraction seen as total prednisolone concentrations increase (73, 167). Barraclough et al. then evaluated the unbound drug concentrations for TDM, reporting C_6 to be best single point measure to predict unbound prednisolone AUC₀₋₁₂ ($r^2=0.87$, p<0.001), and that an LSSs incorporating $C_{0.25}$, C_2 and C_4 (r²=0.98, median PPE 4.6%) showed the highest power for predicting unbound prednisolone AUC_{0-12} . These results are strikingly similar to the results observed in **paper II**. Validating the unbound prednisolone LSSs developed by Barraclough et al. in a cohort of renal transplant recipients 3 to 4 weeks post-transplant with a dosing regimen similar to Barraclough's study population, Yates et al. found that the LSS including C_{1.25} and C_3 demonstrated the greatest predictive power for unbound prednisolone AUC₀₋₁₂ $(r^2=0.97, median PPE 1.2\%)$ (194).

Salivary concentrations of prednisolone is reported to correlate well with unbound prednisolone serum levels (r^2 = 0.867, p<0.001) in healthy individuals (195, 196), and in a cohort of renal transplant recipients (r^2 = 0.88), when measured as a single concentration 4 hours post-dose. Correlation between unbound prednisolone AUC₀₋₁₂ and saliva AUC₀₋₁₂ however, is reported to be poor (r^2 = 0.07) (132). A population pharmacokinetic model able to predict unbound serum prednisolone levels from salivary levels has been developed by Teeninga et al. (196). Saliva samples are easily obtained, in a non-invasive manner and may be the preferred matrix, especially in children. If validated in an independent population, this offers new possibilities for sampling outside a clinical setting.

In conclusion: although prednisolone is generally considered to have a wide therapeutic window, the inter-patient variabilities in pharmacokinetic parameters are large, prednisolone therapy results in considerable toxicities even at low doses, and prednisolone exposure has been associated with adverse clinical outcomes in several studies. As the technical difficulties in separating steroid compounds are overcome by the advent of chromatography combined with tandem mass spectrometry, accurate methods for measuring both total and unbound prednisolone are established. Measurement of unbound as opposed to total prednisolone concentrations has been discussed as an alternative method, given the dose-dependent kinetics of total prednisolone. While a single point measurement may be insufficient, the LSSs described in the literature have demonstrated an ability to predict both total and unbound prednisolone AUC with an acceptable accuracy. The time points suggested to be incorporated in the LSS models from different studies are quite similar and consistent with the findings in **paper II**. Regarding patient convenience, the LSS should be well tolerated. Taken together, this demonstrates both the need for and feasibility of TDM of prednisolone.

6. Conclusions

The present thesis describes the pharmacokinetics of prednisolone and prednisone in renal transplant recipients, and aimed to identify the need and feasibility for individualizing the dosing of prednisolone. The following conclusions have been made:

- In both adult and pediatric renal transplant recipients, there was a large inter-individual variability in prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics, which persisted after adjusting for dose and BW.
- II. A higher prednisolone exposure and a higher prednisolone/prednisone AUC_{dose} ratio was observed in patients with (as compared to without) concurrent methylprednisolone, in adults compared with children, and in three patients with (as compared to without) NODAT.
- III. Prednisolone clearance, as assessed in an *in vitro* study using microsomes, depends on rCYP3A4 rather than rCYP3A5.
- IV. A strong negative correlation between prednisolone AUC_{dose} and morning cortisol levels was observed in fasting adult renal transplant recipients. An LSS incorporating C₀, C₂ and C₄ estimated the prednisolone AUC₀₋₂₄ with a good accuracy (r²=0.91; mean PPE 5.2 ±1.5%). When tested on three renal transplant recipients outside of the study population, the LSS showed acceptable performance.

The knowledge generated in the included studies has emphasized the need for improvements in prednisolone dosing regimens. The relatively high exposure of prednisolone observed indicates that a more moderate dosing of prednisolone may be possible. TDM can be a valuable tool for individualizing and optimizing prednisolone therapy, with the aim of reducing prednisolone doses without compromising efficacy. This may contribute to ameliorate immediate and longterm adverse effects of prednisolone therapy while preserving protection against rejection.

7. Future perspectives:

- A comprehensive validation of the LSS described in **paper II** should be performed in an independent population of renal transplant recipients with a sufficient number of patients included. Due to its dose-dependent, non-linear protein binding in plasma, it would be of interest to also measure the unbound (biologically active) fraction of prednisolone, and investigate whether the LSS predicts a full AUC better using unbound fraction of prednisolone concentrations than with total prednisolone concentrations.
- Additionally, the prednisolone pharmacokinetic data from **paper I** and **II** could potentially be applied in further studies, such as for developing the LSS in combination with population pharmacokinetic model derived Bayesian estimators to accurately predict individual AUC of prednisolone in kidney transplant recipients. This methodology may include covariates that are known to influence the pharmacokinetic parameters, such as various genotypes of metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters, or endogenous GCs and their metabolites as measured in plasma or urine, and could allow for more individualized dosing recommendations.
- In the light of the results from paper III, an *in vitro* study of the relative contribution of rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone in human liver microsomes should be performed, with assessment of scaling factors to convert the results into *in vivo* relevance. Furthermore, a clinical study comparing CYP3A5 expressers with CYP3A5 non-expressers with and without a CYP3A inhibitor such as ketoconazole, and also a CYP3A4 specific inactivator such as CYP3Cide, could provide additional insights into the relative role of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in prednisolone metabolism.

63

8. References

- 1. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes-2011. Diabetes Care. 2011;34 Suppl 1:S11-61.
- 2. Harrison JH, Merrill JP, Murray JE. Renal homotransplantation in identical twins. Surg Forum. 1956;6:432-6.
- 3. Barker CF, Markmann JF. Historical overview of transplantation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2013;3(4):a014977.
- 4. Goodwin WE, Martin DC. Transplantation of the Kidney, Spring 1963. Urol Surv. 1963;13:229-48.
- 5. Thorsby E. [Transplantation medicine in Norway through 50 years]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2006;126(24):3305-10.
- 6. NorwegianRenalRegistry. 2021. Accessed 11.05.2021. Available from: <u>http://www.nephro.no</u>.
- El-Zoghby ZM, Stegall MD, Lager DJ, Kremers WK, Amer H, Gloor JM, et al. Identifying specific causes of kidney allograft loss. Am J Transplant. 2009;9(3):527-35.
- 8. Bauer AC, Franco RF, Manfro RC. Immunosuppression in Kidney Transplantation: State of the Art and Current Protocols. Curr Pharm Des. 2020;26(28):3440-50.
- 9. Rosen HR. Transplantation immunology: what the clinician needs to know for immunotherapy. Gastroenterology. 2008;134(6):1789-801.
- 10. Yang JY, Sarwal MM. Transplant genetics and genomics. Nat Rev Genet. 2017;18(5):309-26.
- 11. Ingulli E. Mechanism of cellular rejection in transplantation. Pediatr Nephrol. 2010;25(1):61-74.
- 12. Murphy K, Traver P, Walport M. Janeway's Immunobiology. 7th ed. 270 Madison Avenue, New York, US: Garland Science, Taylor & Francis group, LLC; 2008.
- 13. Reisæter A, Midtvedt K, Hagness M, Skauby M. Protokoll nyretransplantasjon Nephro.no2021. Accessed 22.02.2021. Available from: http://www.nephro.no/veileder/protokoll2021/2021Nyretxprotokoll.pdf.
- Overman RA, Yeh JY, Deal CL. Prevalence of oral glucocorticoid usage in the United States: a general population perspective. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2013;65(2):294-8.
- 15. Ayyar VS, Jusko WJ. Transitioning from Basic toward Systems Pharmacodynamic Models: Lessons from Corticosteroids. Pharmacol Rev. 2020;72(2):414-38.

- 16. Guyton AC, Hall JE. Textbook of medical physiology. 11th ed. ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2006.
- 17. Tietz NW. Physiology and Regulation of Adrenocortical Hormones. In: Rifai N, Horvath AR, Wittwer CT, editors. Tietz Textbook of Clinical Chemistry and Molecular Diagnostics. 6th ed. St. Louis, Missouri: Elsevier, Inc; 2018. p. 1535.
- 18. Chapman K, Holmes M, Seckl J. 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases: intracellular gate-keepers of tissue glucocorticoid action. Physiol Rev. 2013;93(3):1139-206.
- 19. Hench PS, Kendall EC, Slocumb CH, Polley HF. Effects of cortisone acetate and pituitary ACTH on rheumatoid arthritis, rheumatic fever and certain other conditions. Arch Intern Med (Chic). 1950;85(4):545-666.
- 20. Adcock IM, Mumby S. Glucocorticoids. Handb Exp Pharmacol. 2017;237:171-96.
- 21. Czock D, Keller F, Rasche FM, Haussler U. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of systemically administered glucocorticoids. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2005;44(1):61-98.
- 22. Ponticelli C, Locatelli F. Glucocorticoids in the Treatment of Glomerular Diseases: Pitfalls and Pearls. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;13(5):815-22.
- 23. Williams DM. Clinical Pharmacology of Corticosteroids. Respir Care. 2018;63(6):655-70.
- 24. Asare K. Diagnosis and treatment of adrenal insufficiency in the critically ill patient. Pharmacotherapy. 2007;27(11):1512-28.
- 25. Alangari AA. Genomic and non-genomic actions of glucocorticoids in asthma. Ann Thorac Med. 2010;5(3):133-9.
- 26. Whiting KP, Restall CJ, Brain PF. Steroid hormone-induced effects on membrane fluidity and their potential roles in non-genomic mechanisms. Life Sci. 2000;67(7):743-57.
- 27. Almawi WY, Beyhum HN, Rahme AA, Rieder MJ. Regulation of cytokine and cytokine receptor expression by glucocorticoids. J Leukoc Biol. 1996;60(5):563-72.
- 28. Cuzzoni E, De Iudicibus S, Franca R, Stocco G, Lucafo M, Pelin M, et al. Glucocorticoid pharmacogenetics in pediatric idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. Pharmacogenomics. 2015;16(14):1631-48.
- 29. Newton R, Kuitert LM, Slater DM, Adcock IM, Barnes PJ. Cytokine induction of cytosolic phospholipase A2 and cyclooxygenase-2 mRNA is suppressed by glucocorticoids in human epithelial cells. Life Sci. 1997;60(1):67-78.
- 30. Borson DB, Gruenert DC. Glucocorticoids induce neutral endopeptidase in transformed human tracheal epithelial cells. Am J Physiol. 1991;260(2 Pt 1):L83-9.
- 31. Atsuta J, Plitt J, Bochner BS, Schleimer RP. Inhibition of VCAM-1 expression in human bronchial epithelial cells by glucocorticoids. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 1999;20(4):643-50.

- 32. Rhen T, Cidlowski JA. Antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids--new mechanisms for old drugs. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(16):1711-23.
- 33. Rea D, van Kooten C, van Meijgaarden KE, Ottenhoff TH, Melief CJ, Offringa R. Glucocorticoids transform CD40-triggering of dendritic cells into an alternative activation pathway resulting in antigen-presenting cells that secrete IL-10. Blood. 2000;95(10):3162-7.
- 34. Pan J, Ju D, Wang Q, Zhang M, Xia D, Zhang L, et al. Dexamethasone inhibits the antigen presentation of dendritic cells in MHC class II pathway. Immunol Lett. 2001;76(3):153-61.
- 35. Migita K, Eguchi K, Kawabe Y, Nakamura T, Shirabe S, Tsukada T, et al. Apoptosis induction in human peripheral blood T lymphocytes by high-dose steroid therapy. Transplantation. 1997;63(4):583-7.
- 36. Frauman AG. An overview of the adverse reactions to adrenal corticosteroids. Adverse Drug React Toxicol Rev. 1996;15(4):203-6.
- 37. Schacke H, Docke WD, Asadullah K. Mechanisms involved in the side effects of glucocorticoids. Pharmacol Ther. 2002;96(1):23-43.
- 38. Hjelmesaeth J, Hartmann A, Kofstad J, Stenstrom J, Leivestad T, Egeland T, et al. Glucose intolerance after renal transplantation depends upon prednisolone dose and recipient age. Transplantation. 1997;64(7):979-83.
- 39. Oterdoom LH, de Vries AP, Gansevoort RT, van Son WJ, van der Heide JJ, Ploeg RJ, et al. Determinants of insulin resistance in renal transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2007;83(1):29-35.
- 40. Ginsberg HN. Insulin resistance and cardiovascular disease. J Clin Invest. 2000;106(4):453-8.
- 41. Allen DB. Growth suppression by glucocorticoid therapy. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 1996;25(3):699-717.
- 42. Grenda R, Watson A, Trompeter R, Tonshoff B, Jaray J, Fitzpatrick M, et al. A randomized trial to assess the impact of early steroid withdrawal on growth in pediatric renal transplantation: the TWIST study. Am J Transplant. 2010;10(4):828-36.
- 43. Bergmann TK, Barraclough KA, Lee KJ, Staatz CE. Clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of prednisolone and prednisone in solid organ transplantation. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2012;51(11):711-41.
- 44. Hocker B, Weber LT, Feneberg R, Drube J, John U, Fehrenbach H, et al. Improved growth and cardiovascular risk after late steroid withdrawal: 2-year results of a prospective, randomised trial in paediatric renal transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010;25(2):617-24.

- 45. Benfield MR, Bartosh S, Ikle D, Warshaw B, Bridges N, Morrison Y, et al. A randomized double-blind, placebo controlled trial of steroid withdrawal after pediatric renal transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2010;10(1):81-8.
- 46. Sarwal MM, Ettenger RB, Dharnidharka V, Benfield M, Mathias R, Portale A, et al. Complete steroid avoidance is effective and safe in children with renal transplants: a multicenter randomized trial with three-year follow-up. Am J Transplant. 2012;12(10):2719-29.
- 47. Zhang H, Zheng Y, Liu L, Fu Q, Li J, Huang Q, et al. Steroid Avoidance or Withdrawal Regimens in Paediatric Kidney Transplantation: A Meta-Analysis of Randomised Controlled Trials. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0146523.
- 48. Nehus EJ, Liu C, Lu B, Macaluso M, Kim MO. Graft survival of pediatric kidney transplant recipients selected for de novo steroid avoidance-a propensity score-matched study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2017;32(8):1424-31.
- 49. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes Transplant Work G. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the care of kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2009;9 Suppl 3:S1-155.
- Haller MC, Royuela A, Nagler EV, Pascual J, Webster AC. Steroid avoidance or withdrawal for kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016(8):CD005632.
- 51. Rowland M, Tozer T. Clinical Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics Concepts and Applications. 4th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2011.
- 52. van den Anker J, Reed MD, Allegaert K, Kearns GL. Developmental Changes in Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics. J Clin Pharmacol. 2018;58 Suppl 10:S10-S25.
- 53. Zanger UM, Schwab M. Cytochrome P450 enzymes in drug metabolism: regulation of gene expression, enzyme activities, and impact of genetic variation. Pharmacol Ther. 2013;138(1):103-41.
- 54. Shen DD, Kunze KL, Thummel KE. Enzyme-catalyzed processes of first-pass hepatic and intestinal drug extraction. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 1997;27(2-3):99-127.
- 55. Diederich S, Eigendorff E, Burkhardt P, Quinkler M, Bumke-Vogt C, Rochel M, et al. 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase types 1 and 2: an important pharmacokinetic determinant for the activity of synthetic mineralo- and glucocorticoids. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(12):5695-701.
- 56. Amelung D, Hubener HJ, Roka L, Meyerheim G. Conversion of cortisone to compound F. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1953;13(9):1125-6.
- 57. Draper N, Stewart PM. 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase and the pre-receptor regulation of corticosteroid hormone action. J Endocrinol. 2005;186(2):251-71.

- 58. Tannin GM, Agarwal AK, Monder C, New MI, White PC. The human gene for 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase. Structure, tissue distribution, and chromosomal localization. J Biol Chem. 1991;266(25):16653-8.
- 59. Agarwal AK, Rogerson FM, Mune T, White PC. Gene structure and chromosomal localization of the human HSD11K gene encoding the kidney (type 2) isozyme of 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase. Genomics. 1995;29(1):195-9.
- 60. Eberwine J. Glucocorticoid and Mineralocorticoid Receptors as Transcription Factors. In: Siegel GJ, Agranoff BW, Albers RW, editors. Basic neurochemistry: molecular, cellular and medical aspects. 6th ed. ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven; 1999.
- 61. Rask E, Olsson T, Soderberg S, Andrew R, Livingstone DE, Johnson O, et al. Tissuespecific dysregulation of cortisol metabolism in human obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(3):1418-21.
- 62. Gambineri A, Tomassoni F, Munarini A, Stimson RH, Mioni R, Pagotto U, et al. A combination of polymorphisms in HSD11B1 associates with in vivo 11{beta}-HSD1 activity and metabolic syndrome in women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. Eur J Endocrinol. 2011;165(2):283-92.
- 63. Gregory S, Hill D, Grey B, Ketelbey W, Miller T, Muniz-Terrera G, et al. 11betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 inhibitor use in human disease-a systematic review and narrative synthesis. Metabolism. 2020;108:154246.
- 64. Rosenstock J, Banarer S, Fonseca VA, Inzucchi SE, Sun W, Yao W, et al. The 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 inhibitor INCB13739 improves hyperglycemia in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled by metformin monotherapy. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(7):1516-22.
- 65. Feig PU, Shah S, Hermanowski-Vosatka A, Plotkin D, Springer MS, Donahue S, et al. Effects of an 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 inhibitor, MK-0916, in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2011;13(6):498-504.
- 66. Gambineri A, Vicennati V, Genghini S, Tomassoni F, Pagotto U, Pasquali R, et al. Genetic variation in 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 predicts adrenal hyperandrogenism among lean women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91(6):2295-302.
- 67. Draper N, Powell BL, Franks S, Conway GS, Stewart PM, McCarthy MI. Variants implicated in cortisone reductase deficiency do not contribute to susceptibility to common forms of polycystic ovary syndrome. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2006;65(1):64-70.
- 68. Mariniello B, Ronconi V, Sardu C, Pagliericcio A, Galletti F, Strazzullo P, et al. Analysis of the 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 gene (HSD11B2) in human essential hypertension. Am J Hypertens. 2005;18(8):1091-8.
- 69. Watson B, Jr., Bergman SM, Myracle A, Callen DF, Acton RT, Warnock DG. Genetic association of 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 (HSD11B2) flanking

microsatellites with essential hypertension in blacks. Hypertension. 1996;28(3):478-82.

- 70. White PC, Agarwal AK, Li A, Nikkila H, Pratt JH, Caulfield M, et al. Possible association but no linkage of the HSD11B2 gene encoding the kidney isozyme of 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase to hypertension in Black people. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2001;55(2):249-52.
- 71. Stewart PM, Krozowski ZS, Gupta A, Milford DV, Howie AJ, Sheppard MC, et al. Hypertension in the syndrome of apparent mineralocorticoid excess due to mutation of the 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 gene. Lancet. 1996;347(8994):88-91.
- 72. Gambertoglio JG, Frey FJ, Holford NH, Birnbaum JL, Lizak PS, Vincenti F, et al. Prednisone and prednisolone bioavailability in renal transplant patients. Kidney Int. 1982;21(4):621-6.
- 73. Pickup ME. Clinical pharmacokinetics of prednisone and prednisolone. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1979;4(2):111-28.
- 74. Dilger K, Schwab M, Fromm MF. Identification of budesonide and prednisone as substrates of the intestinal drug efflux pump P-glycoprotein. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2004;10(5):578-83.
- 75. Yates CR, Chang C, Kearbey JD, Yasuda K, Schuetz EG, Miller DD, et al. Structural determinants of P-glycoprotein-mediated transport of glucocorticoids. Pharm Res. 2003;20(11):1794-803.
- 76. Legler UF, Frey FJ, Benet LZ. Prednisolone clearance at steady state in man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1982;55(4):762-7.
- 77. Barth J, Damoiseaux M, Mollmann H, Brandis KH, Hochhaus G, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of prednisolone after intravenous and oral administration. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther Toxicol. 1992;30(9):317-24.
- 78. Jusko WJ, Rose JQ. Monitoring prednisone and prednisolone. Ther Drug Monit. 1980;2(2):169-76.
- 79. Frey FJ, Amend WJ, Lozada F, Frey BM, Holford NH, Benet LZ. Pharmacokinetics of prednisolone and endogenous hydrocortisone levels in cushingoid and non-cushingoid patients. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 1981;21(3):235-42.
- 80. Rohdewald VP, Rehder J, Mollmann H, Barth J, Derendorf H. [Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of prednisolone following extremely high dosage as prednisolone hemisuccinate]. Arzneimittelforschung. 1987;37(2):194-8.
- 81. Boudinot FD, Jusko WJ. Plasma protein binding interaction of prednisone and prednisolone. J Steroid Biochem. 1984;21(3):337-9.
- 82. Rocci ML, Jr., Tietze KJ, Lee J, Harris H, Danzeisen J, Burke JF. The effect of cyclosporine on the pharmacokinetics of prednisolone in renal transplant patients. Transplantation. 1988;45(3):656-60.

- 83. Garg V, Jusko WJ. Bioavailability and reversible metabolism of prednisone and prednisolone in man. Biopharm Drug Dispos. 1994;15(2):163-72.
- 84. Wald JA, Law RM, Ludwig EA, Sloan RR, Middleton E, Jr., Jusko WJ. Evaluation of dose-related pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of prednisolone in man. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm. 1992;20(6):567-89.
- 85. Rocci ML, Jr., Szefler SJ, Acara M, Jusko WJ. Prednisolone metabolism and excretion in the isolated perfused rat kidney. Drug Metab Dispos. 1981;9(3):177-82.
- 86. Peng CC, Templeton I, Thummel KE, Davis C, Kunze KL, Isoherranen N. Evaluation of 6beta-hydroxycortisol, 6beta-hydroxycortisone, and a combination of the two as endogenous probes for inhibition of CYP3A4 in vivo. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2011;89(6):888-95.
- 87. Wrighton SA, Brian WR, Sari MA, Iwasaki M, Guengerich FP, Raucy JL, et al. Studies on the expression and metabolic capabilities of human liver cytochrome P450IIIA5 (HLp3). Mol Pharmacol. 1990;38(2):207-13.
- 88. Waxman DJ, Lapenson DP, Aoyama T, Gelboin HV, Gonzalez FJ, Korzekwa K. Steroid hormone hydroxylase specificities of eleven cDNA-expressed human cytochrome P450s. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1991;290(1):160-6.
- 89. Niwa T, Okamoto A, Narita K, Toyota M, Kato K, Kobayashi K, et al. Comparison of steroid hormone hydroxylation mediated by cytochrome P450 3A subfamilies. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2020;682:108283.
- 90. Matabosch X, Pozo OJ, Perez-Mana C, Papaseit E, Segura J, Ventura R. Detection and characterization of prednisolone metabolites in human urine by LC-MS/MS. J Mass Spectrom. 2015;50(3):633-42.
- 91. Johnston A, Holt DW. Therapeutic drug monitoring of immunosuppressant drugs. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1999;47(4):339-50.
- 92. Patsalos PN, Berry DJ, Bourgeois BF, Cloyd JC, Glauser TA, Johannessen SI, et al. Antiepileptic drugs--best practice guidelines for therapeutic drug monitoring: a position paper by the subcommission on therapeutic drug monitoring, ILAE Commission on Therapeutic Strategies. Epilepsia. 2008;49(7):1239-76.
- 93. Tangeraas T, Bjerre A, Lien B, Kyte A, Monn E, Cvancarova M, et al. Long-term outcome of pediatric renal transplantation: the Norwegian experience in three eras 1970-2006. Pediatr Transplant. 2008;12(7):762-8.
- 94. Patsalos PN, Spencer EP, Berry DJ. Therapeutic Drug Monitoring of Antiepileptic Drugs in Epilepsy: A 2018 Update. Ther Drug Monit. 2018;40(5):526-48.
- 95. Asberg A, Midtvedt K, van Guilder M, Storset E, Bremer S, Bergan S, et al. Inclusion of CYP3A5 genotyping in a nonparametric population model improves dosing of tacrolimus early after transplantation. Transpl Int. 2013;26(12):1198-207.
- 96. Storset E, Asberg A, Skauby M, Neely M, Bergan S, Bremer S, et al. Improved Tacrolimus Target Concentration Achievement Using Computerized Dosing in Renal

Transplant Recipients--A Prospective, Randomized Study. Transplantation. 2015;99(10):2158-66.

- 97. Sheiner LB, Beal S, Rosenberg B, Marathe VV. Forecasting individual pharmacokinetics. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1979;26(3):294-305.
- 98. Kimikawa M, Kamoya K, Toma H, Teraoka S. Effective oral administration of tacrolimus in renal transplant recipients. Clin Transplant. 2001;15(5):324-9.
- 99. Braun F, Schutz E, Peters B, Talaulicar R, Grupp C, Undre N, et al. Pharmacokinetics of tacrolimus primary immunosuppression in kidney transplant recipients. Transplant Proc. 2001;33(3):2127-8.
- 100. Robertsen I, Asberg A, Ingero AO, Vethe NT, Bremer S, Bergan S, et al. Use of generic tacrolimus in elderly renal transplant recipients: precaution is needed. Transplantation. 2015;99(3):528-32.
- 101. Tada H, Satoh S, Iinuma M, Shimoda N, Murakami M, Hayase Y, et al. Chronopharmacokinetics of tacrolimus in kidney transplant recipients: occurrence of acute rejection. J Clin Pharmacol. 2003;43(8):859-65.
- 102. Egeland EJ, Robertsen I, Hermann M, Midtvedt K, Storset E, Gustavsen MT, et al. High Tacrolimus Clearance Is a Risk Factor for Acute Rejection in the Early Phase After Renal Transplantation. Transplantation. 2017;101(8):e273-e9.
- 103. Bouamar R, Shuker N, Hesselink DA, Weimar W, Ekberg H, Kaplan B, et al. Tacrolimus predose concentrations do not predict the risk of acute rejection after renal transplantation: a pooled analysis from three randomized-controlled clinical trials(dagger). Am J Transplant. 2013;13(5):1253-61.
- 104. Wallemacq P, Armstrong VW, Brunet M, Haufroid V, Holt DW, Johnston A, et al. Opportunities to optimize tacrolimus therapy in solid organ transplantation: report of the European consensus conference. Ther Drug Monit. 2009;31(2):139-52.
- 105. Brunet M, van Gelder T, Asberg A, Haufroid V, Hesselink DA, Langman L, et al. Therapeutic Drug Monitoring of Tacrolimus-Personalized Therapy: Second Consensus Report. Ther Drug Monit. 2019;41(3):261-307.
- 106. Le Meur Y, Buchler M, Thierry A, Caillard S, Villemain F, Lavaud S, et al. Individualized mycophenolate mofetil dosing based on drug exposure significantly improves patient outcomes after renal transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2007;7(11):2496-503.
- 107. van Gelder T, Silva HT, de Fijter JW, Budde K, Kuypers D, Tyden G, et al. Comparing mycophenolate mofetil regimens for de novo renal transplant recipients: the fixed-dose concentration-controlled trial. Transplantation. 2008;86(8):1043-51.
- 108. Gaston RS, Kaplan B, Shah T, Cibrik D, Shaw LM, Angelis M, et al. Fixed- or controlled-dose mycophenolate mofetil with standard- or reduced-dose calcineurin inhibitors: the Opticept trial. Am J Transplant. 2009;9(7):1607-19.

- 109. Hermann M, Kase ET, Molden E, Christensen H. Evaluation of microsomal incubation conditions on CYP3A4-mediated metabolism of cyclosporine A by a statistical experimental design. Curr Drug Metab. 2006;7(3):265-71.
- 110. Saeves I, Vethe NT, Bergan S. Quantification of 6 glucocorticoids in human plasma by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry: method development, validation, and assessment of matrix effects. Ther Drug Monit. 2011;33(4):402-10.
- 111. Skauby RH, Gustavsen MT, Andersen AM, Bjerre A, Asberg A, Midtvedt K, et al. Prednisolone and Prednisone Pharmacokinetics in Adult Renal Transplant Recipients. Ther Drug Monit. 2021;43(2):247-55.
- 112. Storset E, Holford N, Midtvedt K, Bremer S, Bergan S, Asberg A. Importance of hematocrit for a tacrolimus target concentration strategy. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;70(1):65-77.
- 113. Walsky RL, Obach RS. Validated assays for human cytochrome P450 activities. Drug Metab Dispos. 2004;32(6):647-60.
- 114. Jones HM, Houston JB. Substrate depletion approach for determining in vitro metabolic clearance: time dependencies in hepatocyte and microsomal incubations. Drug Metab Dispos. 2004;32(9):973-82.
- 115. Austin RP, Barton P, Cockroft SL, Wenlock MC, Riley RJ. The influence of nonspecific microsomal binding on apparent intrinsic clearance, and its prediction from physicochemical properties. Drug Metab Dispos. 2002;30(12):1497-503.
- 116. Obach RS. Prediction of human clearance of twenty-nine drugs from hepatic microsomal intrinsic clearance data: An examination of in vitro half-life approach and nonspecific binding to microsomes. Drug Metab Dispos. 1999;27(11):1350-9.
- 117. Zhang ZY, Chen M, Chen J, Padval MV, Kansra VV. Biotransformation and in vitro assessment of metabolism-associated drug-drug interaction for CRx-102, a novel combination drug candidate. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2009;50(2):200-9.
- 118. Stresser D. Cytochrome P450 Enzyme Mapping in Drug Discovery using Corning[®] Supersomes[™] Enzymes. Cytochrome P450 Enzyme Mapping in Drug Discovery using Corning[®] Supersomes[™] Enzymes [Application Note]. In press 2012.
- 119. Ito K, Houston JB. Comparison of the use of liver models for predicting drug clearance using in vitro kinetic data from hepatic microsomes and isolated hepatocytes. Pharm Res. 2004;21(5):785-92.
- 120. Sagcal-Gironella AC, Sherwin CM, Tirona RG, Rieder MJ, Brunner HI, Vinks AA. Pharmacokinetics of prednisolone at steady state in young patients with systemic lupus erythematosus on prednisone therapy: an open-label, single-dose study. Clin Ther. 2011;33(10):1524-36.
- 121. Gatti G, Perucca E, Frigo GM, Notarangelo LD, Barberis L, Martini A. Pharmacokinetics of prednisone and its metabolite prednisolone in children with nephrotic syndrome during the active phase and in remission. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1984;17(4):423-31.

- 122. Rostin M, Barthe P, Houin G, Alvinerie M, Bouissou F. Pharmacokinetics of prednisolone in children with the nephrotic syndrome. Pediatr Nephrol. 1990;4(5):470-3.
- 123. Petersen KB, Jusko WJ, Rasmussen M, Schmiegelow K. Population pharmacokinetics of prednisolone in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2003;51(6):465-73.
- 124. Bartoszek M, Brenner AM, Szefler SJ. Prednisolone and methylprednisolone kinetics in children receiving anticonvulsant therapy. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1987;42(4):424-32.
- 125. Choonara I, Wheeldon J, Rayner P, Blackburn M, Lewis I. Pharmacokinetics of prednisolone in children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1989;23(6):392-4.
- 126. Teeninga N, Guan Z, Stevens J, Kist-van Holthe JE, Ackermans MT, van der Heijden AJ, et al. Population Pharmacokinetics of Prednisolone in Relation to Clinical Outcome in Children With Nephrotic Syndrome. Ther Drug Monit. 2016;38(4):534-45.
- Boonen E, Bornstein SR, Van den Berghe G. New insights into the controversy of adrenal function during critical illness. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2015;3(10):805-15.
- 128. Quinkler M, Zehnder D, Lepenies J, Petrelli MD, Moore JS, Hughes SV, et al. Expression of renal 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 is decreased in patients with impaired renal function. Eur J Endocrinol. 2005;153(2):291-9.
- 129. Saeves I, Line PD, Bergan S. The pharmacokinetics of prednisolone and prednisone in adult liver transplant recipients early after transplantation. Ther Drug Monit. 2012;34(4):452-9.
- Bergrem HA, Bergrem H, Hartmann A, Hjelmesaeth J, Jenssen T. Role of prednisolone pharmacokinetics in postchallenge glycemia after renal transplantation. Ther Drug Monit. 2008;30(5):583-90.
- 131. Ionita IA, Ogasawara K, Gohh RY, Akhlaghi F. Pharmacokinetics of total and unbound prednisone and prednisolone in stable kidney transplant recipients with diabetes mellitus. Ther Drug Monit. 2014;36(4):448-55.
- 132. Brooks E, Tett SE, Isbel NM, McWhinney B, Staatz CE. Prednisolone Concentrations in Plasma (Total and Unbound) and Saliva of Adult Kidney Transplant Recipients. Ther Drug Monit. 2019;41(6):755-60.
- 133. Bergrem H, Jervell J, Flatmark A. Prednisolone pharmacokinetics in cushingoid and non-cushingoid kidney transplant patients. Kidney Int. 1985;27(2):459-64.
- 134. Bergmann TK, Isbel NM, Ostini R, Barraclough KA, Campbell SB, McWhinney BC, et al. Exploratory study of total and free prednisolone plasma exposure and cushingoid appearance, quality of life and biochemical toxicity in adult male kidney transplant recipients. Clin Drug Investig. 2015;35(11):743-50.

- 135. Miura M, Satoh S, Inoue K, Kagaya H, Saito M, Inoue T, et al. Influence of CYP3A5, ABCB1 and NR1I2 polymorphisms on prednisolone pharmacokinetics in renal transplant recipients. Steroids. 2008;73(11):1052-9.
- 136. Jeng S, Chanchairujira T, Jusko W, Steiner R. Prednisone metabolism in recipients of kidney or liver transplants and in lung recipients receiving ketoconazole. Transplantation. 2003;75(6):792-5.
- 137. Potter JM, McWhinney BC, Sampson L, Hickman PE. Area-under-the-curve monitoring of prednisolone for dose optimization in a stable renal transplant population. Ther Drug Monit. 2004;26(4):408-14.
- 138. Ost L. Impairment of prednisolone metabolism by cyclosporine treatment in renal graft recipients. Transplantation. 1987;44(4):533-5.
- 139. Barraclough KA, Isbel NM, McWhinney BC, Ungerer JP, Medley G, Johnson DW, et al. Evaluation of limited sampling strategies for total and free prednisolone in adult kidney transplant recipients. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;67(12):1243-52.
- 140. Gustavsen MT, Midtvedt K, Robertsen I, Woillard JB, Debord J, Klaasen RA, et al. Fasting Status and Circadian Variation Must be Considered When Performing AUCbased Therapeutic Drug Monitoring of Tacrolimus in Renal Transplant Recipients. Clin Transl Sci. 2020;13(6):1327-35.
- 141. Skauby RH, Bjerre A, Saeves I, Vethe NT, Bremer S, Svarstad A, et al. Prednisolone and Prednisone Pharmacokinetics in Pediatric Renal Transplant Recipients-A Prospective Study. Ther Drug Monit. 2017;39(5):472-82.
- 142. Miozzari M, Ambuhl PM. Steroid withdrawal after long-term medication for immunosuppressive therapy in renal transplant patients: adrenal response and clinical implications. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2004;19(10):2615-21.
- 143. de Vries LV, de Jong WHA, Touw DJ, Berger SP, Navis G, Kema IP, et al. Twentyfour hour urinary cortisol excretion and the metabolic syndrome in prednisolonetreated renal transplant recipients. Steroids. 2017;127:31-9.
- 144. Vulto A, Minovic I, de Vries LV, Timmermans AC, van Faassen M, Gomes Neto AW, et al. Endogenous urinary glucocorticoid metabolites and mortality in prednisolone-treated renal transplant recipients. Clin Transplant. 2020;34(4):e13824.
- 145. Dotsch J, Dorr HG, Stalla GK, Sippell WG. Effect of glucocorticoid excess on the cortisol/cortisone ratio. Steroids. 2001;66(11):817-20.
- 146. Gant CM, Minovic I, Binnenmars H, de Vries L, Kema I, van Beek A, et al. Lower Renal Function Is Associated With Derangement of 11-beta Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenase in Type 2 Diabetes. J Endocr Soc. 2018;2(7):609-20.
- 147. Hill MR, Szefler SJ, Ball BD, Bartoszek M, Brenner AM. Monitoring glucocorticoid therapy: a pharmacokinetic approach. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1990;48(4):390-8.

- 148. Morris DJ, Latif SA, Rokaw MD, Watlington CO, Johnson JP. A second enzyme protecting mineralocorticoid receptors from glucocorticoid occupancy. Am J Physiol. 1998;274(5):C1245-52.
- 149. Ged C, Rouillon JM, Pichard L, Combalbert J, Bressot N, Bories P, et al. The increase in urinary excretion of 6 beta-hydroxycortisol as a marker of human hepatic cytochrome P450IIIA induction. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1989;28(4):373-87.
- 150. Zurcher RM, Frey BM, Frey FJ. Impact of ketoconazole on the metabolism of prednisolone. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1989;45(4):366-72.
- 151. Imani S, Jusko WJ, Steiner R. Diltiazem retards the metabolism of oral prednisone with effects on T-cell markers. Pediatr Transplant. 1999;3(2):126-30.
- 152. Hukkanen J. Induction of cytochrome P450 enzymes: a view on human in vivo findings. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 2012;5(5):569-85.
- 153. McCune JS, Hawke RL, LeCluyse EL, Gillenwater HH, Hamilton G, Ritchie J, et al. In vivo and in vitro induction of human cytochrome P4503A4 by dexamethasone. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2000;68(4):356-66.
- 154. Rohatagi S, Barth J, Mollmann H, Hochhaus G, Soldner A, Mollmann C, et al. Pharmacokinetics of methylprednisolone and prednisolone after single and multiple oral administration. J Clin Pharmacol. 1997;37(10):916-25.
- 155. Murai T, Reilly CA, Ward RM, Yost GS. The inhaled glucocorticoid fluticasone propionate efficiently inactivates cytochrome P450 3A5, a predominant lung P450 enzyme. Chem Res Toxicol. 2010;23(8):1356-64.
- 156. Lolodi O, Wang YM, Wright WC, Chen T. Differential Regulation of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 and its Implication in Drug Discovery. Curr Drug Metab. 2017;18(12):1095-105.
- 157. Niwa T, Narita K, Okamoto A, Murayama N, Yamazaki H. Comparison of Steroid Hormone Hydroxylations by and Docking to Human Cytochromes P450 3A4 and 3A5. J Pharm Pharm Sci. 2019;22(1):332-9.
- 158. Saba N, Bhuyan R, Nandy SK, Seal A. Differential Interactions of Cytochrome P450 3A5 and 3A4 with Chemotherapeutic Agent-Vincristine: A Comparative Molecular Dynamics Study. Anticancer Agents Med Chem. 2015;15(4):475-83.
- 159. Morton JM, Williamson S, Kear LM, McWhinney BC, Potter J, Glanville AR. Therapeutic drug monitoring of prednisolone after lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2006;25(5):557-63.
- 160. Bergrem H, Opedal I. Bioavailability of prednisolone in patients with intestinal malabsorption: the importance of measuring serum protein-binding. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1983;18(4):545-9.
- 161. Reece PA, Disney AP, Stafford I, Shastry JC. Prednisolone protein binding in renal transplant patients. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1985;20(2):159-62.

- 162. Schijvens AM, Ter Heine R, de Wildt SN, Schreuder MF. Pharmacology and pharmacogenetics of prednisone and prednisolone in patients with nephrotic syndrome. Pediatr Nephrol. 2019;34(3):389-403.
- 163. Boekenoogen SJ, Szefler SJ, Jusko WJ. Prednisolone disposition and protein binding in oral contraceptive users. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1983;56(4):702-9.
- 164. Meffin PJ, Brooks PM, Sallustio BC. Alterations in prednisolone disposition as a result of time of administration, gender and dose. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1984;17(4):395-404.
- 165. Ladda MA, Goralski KB. The Effects of CKD on Cytochrome P450-Mediated Drug Metabolism. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2016;23(2):67-75.
- 166. Bergrem H. The influence of uremia on pharmacokinetics and protein binding of prednisolone. Acta Med Scand. 1983;213(5):333-7.
- 167. Frey BM, Frey FJ. Clinical pharmacokinetics of prednisone and prednisolone. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1990;19(2):126-46.
- 168. Madsbad S, Bjerregaard B, Henriksen JH, Juhl E, Kehlet H. Impaired conversion of prednisone to prednisolone in patients with liver cirrhosis. Gut. 1980;21(1):52-6.
- Renner E, Horber FF, Jost G, Frey BM, Frey FJ. Effect of liver function on the metabolism of prednisone and prednisolone in humans. Gastroenterology. 1986;90(4):819-28.
- 170. Dostalek M, Court MH, Yan B, Akhlaghi F. Significantly reduced cytochrome P450 3A4 expression and activity in liver from humans with diabetes mellitus. Br J Pharmacol. 2011;163(5):937-47.
- 171. Chiou YH, Wang LY, Wang TH, Huang SP. Genetic polymorphisms influence the steroid treatment of children with idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. Pediatr Nephrol. 2012;27(9):1511-7.
- 172. Wasilewska A, Zalewski G, Chyczewski L, Zoch-Zwierz W. MDR-1 gene polymorphisms and clinical course of steroid-responsive nephrotic syndrome in children. Pediatr Nephrol. 2007;22(1):44-51.
- 173. Shimada T, Terada A, Yokogawa K, Kaneko H, Nomura M, Kaji K, et al. Lowered blood concentration of tacrolimus and its recovery with changes in expression of CYP3A and P-glycoprotein after high-dose steroid therapy. Transplantation. 2002;74(10):1419-24.
- 174. Anglicheau D, Flamant M, Schlageter MH, Martinez F, Cassinat B, Beaune P, et al. Pharmacokinetic interaction between corticosteroids and tacrolimus after renal transplantation. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation. 2003;18(11):2409-14.
- 175. Rosenfeld JM, Vargas R, Jr., Xie W, Evans RM. Genetic profiling defines the xenobiotic gene network controlled by the nuclear receptor pregnane X receptor. Mol Endocrinol. 2003;17(7):1268-82.

- 176. Rowland M, Tozer T. Age, Weight and Gender. In: Rowland M, Tozer T, editors. Clinical Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics: concepts and applications. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2011. p. 383.
- 177. Green OC, Winter RJ, Kawahara FS, Phillips LS, Lewy PR, Hart RL, et al. Plasma levels, half-life values, and correlation with physiologic assays for growth and immunity. J Pediatr. 1978;93(2):299-303.
- 178. Miura M, Satoh S, Kagaya H, Saito M, Inoue T, Tsuchiya N, et al. No impact of age on dose-adjusted pharmacokinetics of tacrolimus, mycophenolic acid and prednisolone 1 month after renal transplantation. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2009;65(10):1047-53.
- 179. Stuck AE, Frey BM, Frey FJ. Kinetics of prednisolone and endogenous cortisol suppression in the elderly. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1988;43(4):354-62.
- 180. Magee MH, Blum RA, Lates CD, Jusko WJ. Prednisolone pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in relation to sex and race. J Clin Pharmacol. 2001;41(11):1180-94.
- 181. Suarez-Kurtz G, Estrela Rde C, Salvadori MC. Prednisolone: limited sampling strategies for estimating pharmacokinetic parameters. Ther Drug Monit. 2004;26(1):16-22.
- 182. Milsap RL, Plaisance KI, Jusko WJ. Prednisolone disposition in obese men. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1984;36(6):824-31.
- 183. Wake DJ, Homer NZ, Andrew R, Walker BR. Acute in vivo regulation of 11betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 activity by insulin and intralipid infusions in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91(11):4682-8.
- 184. Fan Z, Du H, Zhang M, Meng Z, Chen L, Liu Y. Direct regulation of glucose and not insulin on hepatic hexose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase and 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2011;333(1):62-9.
- 185. Bujalska IJ, Kumar S, Hewison M, Stewart PM. Differentiation of adipose stromal cells: the roles of glucocorticoids and 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase. Endocrinology. 1999;140(7):3188-96.
- 186. Steiner RW, Awdishu L. Steroids in kidney transplant patients. Semin Immunopathol. 2011;33(2):157-67.
- 187. Barraclough KA, Isbel NM, Johnson DW, Hawley CM, Lee KJ, McWhinney BC, et al. A limited sampling strategy for the simultaneous estimation of tacrolimus, mycophenolic acid and unbound prednisolone exposure in adult kidney transplant recipients. Nephrology (Carlton). 2012;17(3):294-9.
- 188. Gambertoglio JG, Vincenti F, Feduska NJ, Birnbaum J, Salvatierra O, Jr., Amend WJ, Jr. Prednisolone disposition in cushingoid and noncushingoid kidney transplant patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1980;51(3):561-5.

- Kozower M, Veatch L, Kaplan MM. Decreased clearance of prednisolone, a factor in the development of corticosteroid side effects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1974;38(3):407-12.
- 190. Sarna S, Hoppu K, Neuvonen PJ, Laine J, Holmberg C. Methylprednisolone exposure, rather than dose, predicts adrenal suppression and growth inhibition in children with liver and renal transplants. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82(1):75-7.
- 191. Ma J, Siminoski K, Alos N, Halton J, Ho J, Cummings EA, et al. Impact of Vertebral Fractures and Glucocorticoid Exposure on Height Deficits in Children During Treatment of Leukemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104(2):213-22.
- 192. Ost L, Bjorkhem I, von Bahr C. Clinical value of assessing prednisolone pharmacokinetics before and after renal transplantation. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 1984;26(3):363-9.
- 193. Ting LS, Villeneuve E, Ensom MH. Beyond cyclosporine: a systematic review of limited sampling strategies for other immunosuppressants. Ther Drug Monit. 2006;28(3):419-30.
- 194. Yates CJ, Barraclough KA, McWhinney BC, Ungerer JP, Fullinfaw RO, Colman PG, et al. A practical limited sampling strategy to predict free prednisolone exposure and glycemia in kidney transplant recipients. Ther Drug Monit. 2014;36(1):18-23.
- 195. Ruiter AF, Teeninga N, Nauta J, Endert E, Ackermans MT. Determination of unbound prednisolone, prednisone and cortisol in human serum and saliva by on-line solid-phase extraction liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry and potential implications for drug monitoring of prednisolone and prednisone in saliva. Biomed Chromatogr. 2012;26(7):789-96.
- 196. Teeninga N, Guan Z, Freijer J, Ruiter AF, Ackermans MT, Kist-van Holthe JE, et al. Monitoring prednisolone and prednisone in saliva: a population pharmacokinetic approach in healthy volunteers. Ther Drug Monit. 2013;35(4):485-92.

In vitro assessments predict that CYP3A4 contributes to a greater extent than CYP3A5 to prednisolone clearance

Ragnhild Heier Skauby^{1,2,3}; Stein Bergan^{1,4}; Anders M Andersen¹; Nils Tore Vethe¹; and Hege Christensen⁴

¹Department of Pharmacology, Oslo University Hospital, Norway

²Department of Medical Biochemistry, Oslo University Hospital, Norway

³Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway

⁴Section for Pharmacology and Pharmaceutical Biosciences, Department of Pharmacy, University of Oslo, Norway

Running title: Prednisolone and CYP3A

Disclosure statement: none of the authors have disclosures or conflicts of interest (as described in the ICMJE form)

Correspondence: Ragnhild Heier Skauby, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet, PB 4950 Nydalen, 0424 Oslo, Norway (e-mail: <u>rskauby@ous-hf.no</u>, phone: +4723071006, fax: +4723071080)

ORCID ID, Ragnhild Heier Skauby: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8516-962X

Keywords: Prednisolone, metabolism, rCYP3A4, rCYP3A5, microsomes

ABSTRACT

Because several steroid hormones are metabolized to their respective 6β-hydroxy forms by CYP3A4 and CYP3A5, these isoenzymes have also been assumed to metabolize the immunosuppressive drug prednisolone, with conflicting results in the literature with respect to their relative importance. A direct study of the metabolism of prednisolone by microsomal CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 is missing. The aim of this *in vitro* study was to investigate the relative importance of rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone and to compare the extent of formation of 6β-OH-prednisolone by the two enzymes. Through *in vitro* incubations using rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 insect cell microsomes, intrinsic clearance (CL_{int}) of prednisolone was determined by the substrate depletion approach. Formation of the metabolite 6β-OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5, respectively, were compared. Prednisolone concentrations were measured and its metabolite 6β-OH-prednisolone was identified using a HPLC-MS/MS in-house method. CL_{int} for prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was less than 26% relative to rCYP3A4. Formation of 6β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was less than 26% relative to rCYP3A4. Formation of 6β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A5 may be responsible for the formation of other prednisolone metabolite(s) in addition to 6β-OH-prednisolone.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Prednisolone is a synthetic glucocorticoid administered in a wide range of conditions that require antiinflammatory or immunosuppressive treatment, such as autoimmune diseases, malignancies and after organ transplantation. Glucocorticoid therapy is, however, associated with a considerable variability in both desired and unwanted effects and even at relatively low comparable bodyweight (BW)-adjusted doses, a wide range of unwanted side effects including hyperglycemia, hypertension, hyperlipidemia and osteopenia are common.¹

The main metabolic pathways of prednisolone are through oxidation of the hydroxyl group in C11 (creating equilibrium between the biologically inactive 11-hydroxy and biologically active 11-keto forms via the 11- β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 1 and 2 enzyme), and through reduction of ketone in C20 (forming the 20 alpha and beta-dihydro-prednisolone/prednisone metabolites via the

20-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase enzyme). In addition, both prednisolone and prednisone are hydroxylated in C6, forming the alpha and beta isomers of 6β-OH-prednisolone (Figure 1).² Based on reports that 6β-hydroxylation of cortisol is catalyzed by the isoenzymes CYP3A4³ and CYP3A5⁴, these enzymes have also been assumed to be partially involved in prednisolone metabolism^{5,6}, with conflicting results in the literature with respect to the degree of involvement.^{7,8} In particular, the role of CYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone has not been fully elucidated.

Cytochrome P450s (CYP) is a superfamily of heme-containing enzymes, capable of catalyzing the oxidative metabolism of numerous substrates.⁹ The CYP3A subfamily, comprising two isoforms, CYP3A4 and CYP3A5, is quantitatively the most abundant CYP enzymes in the human liver and small intestine in adults.¹⁰ Together, CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 account for approximately 30% of hepatic cytochrome P450¹¹, and are responsible for the oxidative metabolism of over 50% of the drugs in widespread use.¹² Genetic polymorphisms have been identified in both enzymes. For CYP3A5, this has a functional relevance in that the *CYP3A5*3* allele encodes for a nonfunctional enzyme, whereas *CYP3A5*1* is associated with CYP3A5 expression.¹⁰ CYP3A5 is expressed in more than 50% of African Americans, in approximately 30% of Japanese and in 15-25% of Caucasians.^{10,13} Individuals carrying the *CYP3A5*1* allele experience a higher clearance and lower bioavailability of CYP3A5 substrates compared with individuals not carrying the *CYP3A5*1* allele, as has been demonstrated for

the immunosuppressive drug tacrolimus.^{14,15} Genetic variants in CYP3A4 that have a functional relevance are infrequent (https://www.pharmvar.org/gene/CYP3A4). However, it has been found that the *CYP3A4*22* allele is linked to reduced CYP3A4 mRNA expression and hepatic CYP3A4 activity¹⁶, and is associated with reduced tacrolimus and cyclosporine A clearance.^{17,18} Nevertheless, the general relevance of *CYP3A4*22* on CYP3A4 phenotype is unclear, as reviewed by Werk and Cascorbi.¹⁹ Although the inducible CYP3A4 is generally recognized as the predominant CYP3A enzyme; in some individuals CYP3A5 can constitute more than 50% of the total hepatic CYP3A4^{4,10,20}, and may in such cases represent a considerable share of total CYP3A activity. As CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 are 83% homologous in terms of amino acid sequences²¹, CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 were thought to be similar in substrate specificity. However, differences in catalytic capability and regioselectivity towards some substrates have been identified, and the relative importance of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in overall CYP3A mediated metabolism differs between substrates.^{10,22}

In an earlier study investigating adult renal transplant recipients, we observed three CYP3A5 expressors (*1/*3) presenting a mean dose/BW adjusted prednisolone AUC₀₋₂₄ which was 25% lower compared with CYP3A5 non-expressors (n=25).²³ Moreover, in a population of nine pediatric renal transplant recipients, we found that the patient with the lowest prednisolone- AUC₀₋₁₂ and the highest prednisolone-CL/F was a CYP3A5 expressor (*1/*3).²⁴ Hence, the aim of this *in vitro* study was to examine the relative contribution by rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone in microsomes, and to compare the extent of formation of 6β-OH-prednisolone by the two enzymes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted in accordance with the Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology policy for experimental and clinical studies.²⁵

Reagents

Prednisolone, HPLC-grade water and zinc sulfate 0.10 mol/L were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St.Louis, MO). Prednisolone-d8 and 6β-OH-prednisolone were purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals Inc. (North York, ON, Canada). Baculovirus-transfected insect cell microsomes selectively co-expressing human CYP3A enzymes, cytochrome P450 reductase and cytochrome b5 (Supersomes) were purchased from Corning Inc (NY, 14831 USA). Stock solutions of prednisolone calibrators (1 mg/mL) and deuterated internal standard (1 mg/mL) were prepared in MeOH. Analyte working solutions were prepared by diluting the stock solutions in MeOH. A stock solution of 6β-OHprednisolone (1 mg/mL) was prepared in MeOH. This stock was diluted 1:1000 in MeOH to prepare a 1 mg/L tune solution for MS-optimization, and diluted in stripped fetal bovine serum from Sigma-Aldrich (St.Louis, MO) to relevant concentrations for the verification of chromatographic peaks. For the preparation of calibrators and quality controls, the analyte working solution was also diluted in stripped fetal bovine serum. The internal standard working solution was diluted 2000-fold in the precipitation solution, which consisted of MeOH and ZnSO₄ (2:1). NADPH, EGTA, MgSO₄, hepes and sucrose were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany), and Tris-H₂SO₄ was purchased from VWR International (Radnor, PA). HPLC-grade acetonitrile and methanol were obtained from Rathburn Chemicals (Walkerburn, Scotland). Mobile phases were prepared with ultra-HPLC/MSgrade water and methanol with 0.10% formic acid from Honeywell (Maurice, NJ) and ammonium acetate, Sigma-Aldrich (St.Louis, MO).

Experimental Conditions and Sample Preparation

The metabolism of prednisolone was examined using the substrate depletion approach. Preliminary studies showed that the measured concentration of prednisolone in the buffer solution was only approximately 70% of the nominal concentration, which was perceived as a solubility problem. To increase the solubility of prednisolone, the diluting agent was changed from Tris-H₂SO₄ to organic solvent (methanol), producing a 7 μ M prednisolone solution in 25% MeOH. Based on earlier studies²⁶,

a final enzyme concentration of 4 nM was used in the preliminary studies. Due to slow metabolization and substrate depletion, the final enzyme concentration for both rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 was increased to 45 nM in the total incubation volume of 220 μ L (0.4 mg/mL for rCYP3A4 and 0.3 mg/mL for rCYP3A5), which was consistent with the recommended 100 pmol/mL in the literature²⁷, and the incubation time (initially set to 30 min) was extended to 120 min.

Incubation assays contained either rCYP3A4 or rCYP3A5, with co-expressed cytochrome b5. Microsomes were diluted in a solution (pH 7.4) consisting of 0.25 M sucrose, 10 mM Hepes, and 2 mM EGTA. Prednisolone (approximately 0.5 µM for both rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5), exact concentration assessed at start of the experiment) was incubated at 37°C in 200 mM Tris-H₂SO₄ (pH 7.4), 20 mM MgSO₄, and 10 mM NADPH, according to incubation conditions optimized by Hermann et al.²⁸ The reaction was initiated by adding preheated microsomes, samples were then removed from the incubation assay at 0, 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 90 and 120 min and quenched with 882 µL ice-cold precipitation solution (MeOH:ZnSO₄, 2:1) containing prednisolone-d8 (0.8 μ M) as an internal standard, and put on ice for 30 min. The samples were then centrifuged at 1600g for 5 min at 4°C (Heraeus Megafuge 16R, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), and 200 µL of the supernatant plus 300 µL of a diluent (mobile phase A: water with 0.10 formic acid and 2.0 mmol/L ammonium acetate) were pipetted to a deep-well plate (2.2-mL 96 deepwell polypropylene plate with square wells; Hamilton, Bonaduz, Switzerland). The plate was then sealed (Slit Seal, BioChromato, Kanagawa-ken, Japan) and shaken for 4 min (1400 rpm, 3-mm orbit; High-Speed Multi-Plate Shaker, BioSan, Riga, Latvia). The plate was centrifuged for 10 min (2000g, 4°C; Rotanta, Hettich, Tuttlingen, Germany) and transferred to an autosampler with temperature kept at 10°C. Three separate experiments were performed for each of the two microsomal preparations studied. All of the incubations in each experiment were performed in duplicate. One of the duplicate time points at 90 min, in one of the three rCYP3A5 experiments was identified as an outlier (Thompsons Tau test) and removed.

Determination of prednisolone and 6β-OH-prednisolone

All samples were analyzed for concentrations of prednisolone and 6β-OH-prednisolone using protein precipitation, followed by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS/MS), performed as described in a previous article²³ with some minor modifications to include 6β-OH-prednisolone in the assay (Table 1, Figure 2). Stock solutions of

calibrators (1 mg/mL) and internal standards (IS; 1 mg/mL) were prepared in MeOH. Analyte working solutions were prepared by diluting the stock solutions in MeOH. The IS stock solutions were diluted in MeOH to prepare a common IS working solution. For the preparation of calibrators and quality controls, the analyte working solution was diluted in Charcoal Stripped Fetal Bovine Serum glucocorticoids from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). The range of the assay detection method for prednisolone was 20-1016 μ g/L. Within- and between runs coefficients of variation of quality controls were <7% with three replicates at four different concentrations being used. Bias was <4% in all levels. Absolute quantitation of 6 β -OH-prednisolone was not performed due to lack of a suitable isotope labelled internal standard, and also apparent impurities in the reference compound. The metabolite levels were estimated using the signal from the mass transition 377.2>341.1, quantitated by the prednisolone calibration curve. Qualitatively, presence of the metabolite in the enzyme reactions were confirmed by chromatographic retention time and by using the mass transition, 377.2>147.1 as a qualifier.

Data analysis

A logarithmic (log) transformation of the substrate depletion curves for prednisolone was performed, in order to graphically verify mono-exponential decay, revealing linear substrate depletion curves for rCYP3A4 as well as for rCYP3A5 microsomes for the time range 0-45 min (data not shown). Substrate depletion data of prednisolone from 0-45 min were therefore fitted to a mono-exponential decay model (eq. 1), with a 1/Y weighting using GraphPad Prism version 8.0.1 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA).

$$C_t = C_0 e^{-\kappa t} \tag{1}$$

The velocity constant k (min⁻¹) for the substrate depletion was estimated in each experiment, and consequently the intrinsic clearance (CL_{int}) was calculated (eq. 2).

$$CL_{int} = kV (\mu L/min),$$
 (2)

where V is the incubation volume.

Relative depletion of substrate concentration was determined by calculating (prednisolone concentration at 45 min – prednisolone concentration at 0 min) / (prednisolone concentration at 0

min)* 100%. A paired t-test was used to determine any statistical significant difference in prednisolone concentration at 0 min vs 45 min, for both rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

The extent of formation of 6β-OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 was compared by assessment of the formation of 6β-OH-prednisolone after 45 min incubation in rCYP3A5 microsomes relative to rCYP3A4 microsomes.

RESULTS

The prednisolone concentration of 0.5 μ M in rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 microsomes was well below the apparent value of Km for rCYP3A4-mediated prednisolone metabolism, which is reported to be 40-166 μ M.²⁹ This concentration resulted in linear formation of the metabolite and provided measurable metabolite amounts.

Determination of CL_{int}

Substrate depletion data for prednisolone using a mono-exponential decay model from 0 to 45 min was studied in both microsomal preparations, showing a monoexponential decay ($r^2 > 0.94$ for rCYP3A4 and $r^2 > 0.45$ for rCYP3A5) (Figure 3). CL_{int} for rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 were 0.25 and 0.07 µL/min/pmol enzyme, respectively (Table 2). CL_{int} of prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was 26% (S.E.M. 10%) relative to rCYP3A4. Relative depletion of substrate concentration after 45 min was -38% for rCYP3A4 (p=0.008) and -16% for rCYP3A5 (p=0.094).

For the time range 0-120 min, the log-transformed substrate depletion curves were non-linear (data not shown), and showed two-phase exponential decay (Figure 4).

The formation of 6β-OH-prednisolone

The formation of 6β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was different from that of rCYP3A4. After 45 min incubation, the formation rate of 6β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A5 still showed a linear trend, whereas formation rate of 6β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A4 showed a tendency towards plateau phase. These tendencies were accentuated towards 120 min of incubation. The formation of 6β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was less than 10% relative to rCYP3A4 (Figure 5).

DISCUSSION

In this *in vitro* substrate depletion study, investigating the relative contribution of rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 in the metabolism of prednisolone, we found that prednisolone is metabolized by rCYP3A5, but to a lesser degree than by rCYP3A4. CL_{int} for prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was less than 26% relative to rCYP3A4 in microsomes. Formation of 6 β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was less than 10% relative to rCYP3A4. These results suggest that the prednisolone 6 β -OH-hydroxylation activity in microsomes is dependent on the rCYP3A4 activity rather than rCYP3A5.

In the literature, substrate depletion studies and metabolite formation studies on the role of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in prednisolone metabolism are sparse. One study by Zhang et al²⁹, investigating prednisolone metabolism and responsible CYP enzymes revealed results consistent with the current study. Using cDNA-expressed human cytochrome P450 enzymes, Zhang et al. reported that among the CYP enzymes investigated within phase 1 biotransformation, CYP3A4 was the principal enzyme responsible for prednisolone metabolism, although not concluding regarding CYP3A5. However, an in vitro study investigating epithelial toad kidney cells, not expressing CYP3A4, did indicate a role for CYP3A5 in 6β-OH-steroid formation.³⁰ Although reports on prednisolone and CYP3A pharmacogenetics are few, in vitro studies on the metabolism of steroids other than prednisolone are available. In human liver microsomes, CYP3A4 has been demonstrated to be responsible for cortisol 6β -hydroxylase activity³¹, whereas both testosterone and cortisol are shown to be metabolized by CYP3A5, though at a slower rate than by CYP3A4.⁴ In microsomes prepared from Hep G2 cells transfected with CYP3A enzymes, three steroids (testosterone, androstenedione and progesterone) were metabolized to their respective 6β -OH-metabolite by both CYP3A4 and CYP3A5; nonetheless, the CYP3A5 enzyme exhibited a distinctly lower (less than 25%) activity compared with CYP3A4.³² Comparing the CYP3A4 and CYP3A5-mediated 6β-hydroxylation of cortisol in E. coli expressed recombinant enzymes, Niwa et al. found that the V_{max} and V_{cat}/K_m for CYP3A5 was less than 30% relative to CYP3A4 in the formation of the 6β -OH-cortisol, and the K_m value for CYP3A5 was 15% higher than that of CYP3A4.³³ The kinetic parameters for testosterone and progesterone showed the same tendency, although more pronounced. Pharmacokinetic drug-drug interaction studies have also demonstrated that co-administration of CYP3A inducers cause an increase in clearance and decreased half-life of prednisolone.^{34,35} In line with these observations, a strong CYP3A inhibitor such

as ketoconazole is reported to increase the total and unbound prednisolone concentrations in plasma by about 50%, due to a reduced clearance.⁸ A major challenge in interpreting the data from these studies is that glucocorticoids, including PL, themselves induce CYP3A enzymes.^{36,37} In addition, glucocorticoids have been shown to have the potential to inhibit CYP3A5, but not CYP3A4, in a time dependent manner.³⁸ Altogether, studies on the metabolism of steroids seem to concur regarding CYP3A4 being the preferred CYP3A enzyme responsible for the 6β-hydroxylation activity, nevertheless, direct *in vivo* studies of the metabolism of prednisolone by CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 are lacking. The results of the present *in vitro* study indicate however, that prednisolone is metabolized by rCYP3A4, but do not support rCYP3A5 to be of major importance.

Prednisolone metabolite pattern has been characterized in several studies, identifying up to 20 different metabolites. In addition to prednisone and 20-dihydro-prednisolone, 6β -OH-prednisolone has been shown to be among the major unconjugated metabolites of prednisolone in human urine, although the corresponding metabolizing enzymes are not identified.^{2,39,40} The current assay was set up to identify only one metabolite, 6β -OH-prednisolone. In our study, we observed that the formation of 6β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was different from that of rCYP3A4. Both isoenzymes contributed to the overall metabolism, but formation of 6β -OH-prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was less than 10% relative to rCYP3A4, whereas the CL_{int} of prednisolone by rCYP3A5 was less than 26% relative to rCYP3A4. This indicates that CYP3A5 may be responsible for the formation of one or more prednisolone metabolite(s) in addition to the 6β -OH-prednisolone detected.

In this substrate depletion study, only 16% of total prednisolone was metabolized by rCYP3A5, whereas 38% of total prednisolone was metabolized by rCYP3A4 in the time span of 45 min and under the conditions as specified. Since the homology between CYP3A5 and CYP3A4 is as high as 84%, the enzymes have a wide range of overlapping substrate specificities, and there is no substrate known that is exclusively metabolized by either CYP3A4 or CYP3A5.⁴¹ However, results from studies using molecular docking simulations indicate that there are differences in the binding affinity of certain substrates to the CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 enzymes, due to conformational changes in their respective binding sites.^{42,43} Niwa et al. showed that a typical CYP3A5 substrate such as vincristine was able to dock closer to the heme region of CYP3A5 compared with CYP3A4, whereas fluconazole, a strong inhibitor of CYP3A4, could not dock effectively with the active site of CYP3A5.⁴⁴ Further studies on

steroids by Niwa et al. indicate that an altered accessibility of substrates and inhibitors to the heme moiety of CYP3A molecules, which is a preferred location for oxidation at C6β position, may be a possible explanation for the difference in affinity between CYP3A4 and CYP3A5.⁴³ This may in part explain the observed differences between the two isoenzymes regarding catalytic efficiency, and susceptibility to inhibitors, despite largely sharing the same set of substrates.

As demonstrated in earlier studies^{23,24}, the inter-individual variability in serum concentrations of prednisolone is considerable. Although experimental conditions, inter-individual variability, extrahepatic metabolism, or nonlinear kinetics may cause discrepancies between *in vitro* and *in vivo* data^{45,46}, the observations from this study may imply that other factors than genetic polymorphisms in CYP3A5 determine the inter-individual variability of prednisolone. The levels of expression and activity of CYP3A4 may be more relevant, however. The large inter-individual variability in CYP3A4 expression and activity documented in the literature^{47,48}, can in part be attributed to genetic polymorphisms, but drug to drug interactions, age, sex, comorbidity and diet may also influence the pharmacokinetics of CYP3A4 substrates, as reviewed by Zanger and Schwab.¹²

The substrate depletion method was used in this study instead of the metabolite formation method because prior knowledge of the particular metabolic pathways under study and their importance to the overall metabolic fate of prednisolone is not well described. In addition, a method for an absolute quantification of the metabolite 6β-OH-prednisolone was not available, and a suitable isotope labelled internal standard was lacking. The enzyme concentrations were kept below 0.5 mg/mL to reduce the risk of non-specific binding, in line with suggestions on standardization of substrate depletion studies in microsomes.⁴⁹ In contrast to this, Walsky and Obach found an enzyme concentration of approximately 6 nM to be appropriate when investigating testosterone 6β-hydroxylation by rCYP3A enzymes *in vitro*.⁵⁰ However, when similar concentrations were used in our preliminary studies, we experienced slow metabolization and a lack of substrate depletion.

Linearity studies were also performed. The log-transformed substrate depletion curves for rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 were linear in the time range 0-45 min (figure 3), whereas extending the time range to 0-120 min produced non-linear depletion curves (figure 4), indicating a two-phase exponential decay. This biphasic effect was also recognized and explained by Jones & Houston⁴⁹ as caused by a limited oxygen availability followed by enzyme degradation and loss of (enzyme) activity. Another suggested explanation was the end-product inhibition phenomenon: as microsomes have no functioning phase II conjugation enzymes, phase I metabolites accumulate and may compete with the parent drug for binding to the enzyme that catalyzes the first reaction, thereby inhibiting the parent metabolism.⁴⁹

Long incubation times may be detrimental to the CYP3As, CL_{int} for prednisolone was therefore determined for the time range 0-45 min in the present study. To distinguish metabolism from baseline variability, preferably a 20% of the substrate should be metabolized within the incubation period.⁴⁹ The prednisolone depletion by rCYP3A5 after 45 min in this study was 16%. Considering the 6β-OH-prednisolone metabolite formation illustrated in figure 5, however, metabolism of prednisolone by rCYP3A5 seems to take place to a certain extent.

There are some limitations to this study. Due to different protein content in the microsomes, an enzyme concentration of 45 nM in both rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 resulted in a slight difference in protein/mL for rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5 (0.4 mg/mL vs 0.3 mg/mL). The substrate depletion method is regarded as an imperfect approach compared to the metabolite formation method, because measuring depletion involves subtracting two large numbers, which increases the imprecision.²⁷ In addition, hepatocytes are reported to produce more accurate and precise predictions of CL_{int} than those obtained using microsomes.⁵¹ On the other hand, the quality control results indicate that the measurements are precise, with an imprecision well below the observed changes in prednisolone concentrations.

The current study demonstrates that 6β-hydroxylation of prednisolone, assessed *in vitro* in microsomes, can be catalyzed both by rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5. The results indicated that compared with rCYP3A5, the rCYP3A4 mediated pathway is more relevant in prednisolone metabolism, when studied *in vitro*. A further corroboration of these results in human liver microsomes is warranted. Clinical studies allowing for a comparison of PL metabolism between CYP3A5 expressers and non-expressers, where also a potential effect of a CYP3A inhibitor is evaluated, are necessary to quantify the eventual contribution by CYP3A5 mediated metabolism of prednisolone in a clinical setting.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Veronica Krogstad at the Department of Pharmacy for valuable advice with respect to optimalization of the in vitro incubations, as well as Thai Tran and the staff at the Section for Clinical Pharmacology, Rikshospitalet, for organizing laboratory facilities and skilled technical assistance.

Authorship Contributions

Participated in research design: Christensen, Bergan, Heier Skauby

Conducted experiments: Heier Skauby, Christensen

Conducted the LC-MS/MS analysis: Heier Skauby, Andersen, Vethe

Performed data analysis: Heier Skauby, Vethe

Wrote or contributed to the writing of the manuscript: Heier Skauby, Christensen, Bergan, Andersen, Vethe

REFERENCES

- 1. Czock D, Keller F, Rasche FM, Haussler U. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of systemically administered glucocorticoids. *Clin Pharmacokinet.* 2005;44(1):61-98.
- 2. Matabosch X, Pozo OJ, Perez-Mana C, Papaseit E, Segura J, Ventura R. Detection and characterization of prednisolone metabolites in human urine by LC-MS/MS. *J Mass Spectrom*. 2015;50(3):633-642.
- 3. Peng CC, Templeton I, Thummel KE, Davis C, Kunze KL, Isoherranen N. Evaluation of 6betahydroxycortisol, 6beta-hydroxycortisone, and a combination of the two as endogenous probes for inhibition of CYP3A4 in vivo. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2011;89(6):888-895.
- 4. Wrighton SA, Brian WR, Sari MA, et al. Studies on the expression and metabolic capabilities of human liver cytochrome P450IIIA5 (HLp3). *Mol Pharmacol.* 1990;38(2):207-213.
- 5. Bergmann TK, Barraclough KA, Lee KJ, Staatz CE. Clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of prednisolone and prednisone in solid organ transplantation. *Clin Pharmacokinet.* 2012;51(11):711-741.
- 6. Teeninga N, Guan Z, Stevens J, et al. Population Pharmacokinetics of Prednisolone in Relation to Clinical Outcome in Children With Nephrotic Syndrome. *Ther Drug Monit.* 2016;38(4):534-545.
- 7. Yamashita SK, Ludwig EA, Middleton E, Jr., Jusko WJ. Lack of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic interactions between ketoconazole and prednisolone. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 1991;49(5):558-570.
- 8. Zurcher RM, Frey BM, Frey FJ. Impact of ketoconazole on the metabolism of prednisolone. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 1989;45(4):366-372.
- 9. Alcorn J, McNamara PJ. Ontogeny of hepatic and renal systemic clearance pathways in infants: part I. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2002;41(12):959-998.
- 10. Kuehl P, Zhang J, Lin Y, et al. Sequence diversity in CYP3A promoters and characterization of the genetic basis of polymorphic CYP3A5 expression. *Nat Genet*. 2001;27(4):383-391.
- 11. Shimada T, Yamazaki H, Mimura M, Inui Y, Guengerich FP. Interindividual variations in human liver cytochrome P-450 enzymes involved in the oxidation of drugs, carcinogens and toxic chemicals: studies with liver microsomes of 30 Japanese and 30 Caucasians. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 1994;270(1):414-423.
- Zanger UM, Schwab M. Cytochrome P450 enzymes in drug metabolism: regulation of gene expression, enzyme activities, and impact of genetic variation. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2013;138(1):103-141.
- 13. Burk O, Wojnowski L. Cytochrome P450 3A and their regulation. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol.* 2004;369(1):105-124.
- 14. Brunet M, van Gelder T, Asberg A, et al. Therapeutic Drug Monitoring of Tacrolimus-Personalized Therapy: Second Consensus Report. *Ther Drug Monit.* 2019;41(3):261-307.
- 15. Hesselink DA, van Schaik RH, van der Heiden IP, et al. Genetic polymorphisms of the CYP3A4, CYP3A5, and MDR-1 genes and pharmacokinetics of the calcineurin inhibitors cyclosporine and tacrolimus. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2003;74(3):245-254.
- 16. Wang D, Guo Y, Wrighton SA, Cooke GE, Sadee W. Intronic polymorphism in CYP3A4 affects hepatic expression and response to statin drugs. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2011;11(4):274-286.
- 17. Elens L, Capron A, van Schaik RH, et al. Impact of CYP3A4*22 allele on tacrolimus pharmacokinetics in early period after renal transplantation: toward updated genotype-based dosage guidelines. *Ther Drug Monit.* 2013;35(5):608-616.
- 18. Elens L, van Schaik RH, Panin N, et al. Effect of a new functional CYP3A4 polymorphism on calcineurin inhibitors' dose requirements and trough blood levels in stable renal transplant patients. *Pharmacogenomics.* 2011;12(10):1383-1396.
- 19. Werk AN, Cascorbi I. Functional gene variants of CYP3A4. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2014;96(3):340-348.
- 20. Lin YS, Dowling AL, Quigley SD, et al. Co-regulation of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 and contribution to hepatic and intestinal midazolam metabolism. *Mol Pharmacol.* 2002;62(1):162-172.
- 21. de Wildt SN, Kearns GL, Leeder JS, van den Anker JN. Cytochrome P450 3A: ontogeny and drug disposition. *Clin Pharmacokinet.* 1999;37(6):485-505.
- 22. Lamba JK, Lin YS, Schuetz EG, Thummel KE. Genetic contribution to variable human CYP3Amediated metabolism. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2002;54(10):1271-1294.
- 23. Skauby RH, Gustavsen MT, Andersen AM, et al. Prednisolone and Prednisone Pharmacokinetics in Adult Renal Transplant Recipients. *Ther Drug Monit.* 2021;43(2):247-255.
- Skauby RH, Bjerre A, Saeves I, et al. Prednisolone and Prednisone Pharmacokinetics in Pediatric Renal Transplant Recipients-A Prospective Study. *Ther Drug Monit.* 2017;39(5):472-482.
- 25. Tveden-Nyborg P, Bergmann TK, Jessen N, Simonsen U, Lykkesfeldt J. BCPT policy for experimental and clinical studies. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol.* 2021;128(1):4-8.
- 26. Bakken GV, Rudberg I, Christensen H, Molden E, Refsum H, Hermann M. Metabolism of quetiapine by CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in presence or absence of cytochrome B5. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2009;37(2):254-258.
- 27. Stresser D. Cytochrome P450 Enzyme Mapping in Drug Discovery using Corning[®] Supersomes[™] Enzymes. In. Cytochrome P450 Enzyme Mapping in Drug Discovery using Corning[®] Supersomes[™] Enzymes. . <u>https://www.corning.com/emea/en/products/life-sciences/resource-library/</u>: <u>https://www.corning.com</u>; 2012.
- 28. Hermann M, Kase ET, Molden E, Christensen H. Evaluation of microsomal incubation conditions on CYP3A4-mediated metabolism of cyclosporine A by a statistical experimental design. *Curr Drug Metab.* 2006;7(3):265-271.

- 29. Zhang ZY, Chen M, Chen J, Padval MV, Kansra VV. Biotransformation and in vitro assessment of metabolism-associated drug-drug interaction for CRx-102, a novel combination drug candidate. *J Pharm Biomed Anal.* 2009;50(2):200-209.
- Morris DJ, Latif SA, Rokaw MD, Watlington CO, Johnson JP. A second enzyme protecting mineralocorticoid receptors from glucocorticoid occupancy. *Am J Physiol.* 1998;274(5):C1245-1252.
- 31. Ged C, Rouillon JM, Pichard L, et al. The increase in urinary excretion of 6 betahydroxycortisol as a marker of human hepatic cytochrome P450IIIA induction. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 1989;28(4):373-387.
- 32. Waxman DJ, Lapenson DP, Aoyama T, Gelboin HV, Gonzalez FJ, Korzekwa K. Steroid hormone hydroxylase specificities of eleven cDNA-expressed human cytochrome P450s. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 1991;290(1):160-166.
- 33. Niwa T, Okamoto A, Narita K, et al. Comparison of steroid hormone hydroxylation mediated by cytochrome P450 3A subfamilies. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 2020;682:108283.
- 34. Bartoszek M, Brenner AM, Szefler SJ. Prednisolone and methylprednisolone kinetics in children receiving anticonvulsant therapy. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 1987;42(4):424-432.
- 35. Gambertoglio JG, Holford NH, Kapusnik JE, et al. Disposition of total and unbound prednisolone in renal transplant patients receiving anticonvulsants. *Kidney Int.* 1984;25(1):119-123.
- 36. Hukkanen J. Induction of cytochrome P450 enzymes: a view on human in vivo findings. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol.* 2012;5(5):569-585.
- 37. Rohatagi S, Barth J, Mollmann H, et al. Pharmacokinetics of methylprednisolone and prednisolone after single and multiple oral administration. *J Clin Pharmacol.* 1997;37(10):916-925.
- 38. Murai T, Reilly CA, Ward RM, Yost GS. The inhaled glucocorticoid fluticasone propionate efficiently inactivates cytochrome P450 3A5, a predominant lung P450 enzyme. *Chem Res Toxicol.* 2010;23(8):1356-1364.
- 39. Garg V, Jusko WJ. Simultaneous analysis of prednisone, prednisolone and their major hydroxylated metabolites in urine by high-performance liquid chromatography. *J Chromatogr.* 1991;567(1):39-47.
- 40. Ahi S, Beotra A, Dubey S, Upadhyay A, Jain S. Simultaneous identification of prednisolone and its ten metabolites in human urine by high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Drug Test Anal.* 2012;4(6):460-467.
- 41. Lolodi O, Wang YM, Wright WC, Chen T. Differential Regulation of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 and its Implication in Drug Discovery. *Curr Drug Metab.* 2017;18(12):1095-1105.
- 42. Saba N, Bhuyan R, Nandy SK, Seal A. Differential Interactions of Cytochrome P450 3A5 and 3A4 with Chemotherapeutic Agent-Vincristine: A Comparative Molecular Dynamics Study. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem.* 2015;15(4):475-483.

- 43. Niwa T, Narita K, Okamoto A, Murayama N, Yamazaki H. Comparison of Steroid Hormone Hydroxylations by and Docking to Human Cytochromes P450 3A4 and 3A5. *J Pharm Pharm Sci.* 2019;22(1):332-339.
- 44. Niwa T, Yasumura M, Murayama N, Yamazaki H. Comparison of catalytic properties of cytochromes P450 3A4 and 3A5 by molecular docking simulation. *Drug Metab Lett.* 2014;8(1):43-50.
- 45. Donato MT, Castell JV. Strategies and molecular probes to investigate the role of cytochrome P450 in drug metabolism: focus on in vitro studies. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2003;42(2):153-178.
- 46. Tucker GT, Houston JB, Huang SM. Optimizing drug development: strategies to assess drug metabolism/transporter interaction potential--towards a consensus. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2001;52(1):107-117.
- 47. Obach RS, Zhang QY, Dunbar D, Kaminsky LS. Metabolic characterization of the major human small intestinal cytochrome p450s. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2001;29(3):347-352.
- 48. Paine MF, Hart HL, Ludington SS, Haining RL, Rettie AE, Zeldin DC. The human intestinal cytochrome P450 "pie". *Drug Metab Dispos*. 2006;34(5):880-886.
- 49. Jones HM, Houston JB. Substrate depletion approach for determining in vitro metabolic clearance: time dependencies in hepatocyte and microsomal incubations. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2004;32(9):973-982.
- 50. Walsky RL, Obach RS. Validated assays for human cytochrome P450 activities. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2004;32(6):647-660.
- 51. Ito K, Houston JB. Comparison of the use of liver models for predicting drug clearance using in vitro kinetic data from hepatic microsomes and isolated hepatocytes. *Pharm Res.* 2004;21(5):785-792.

Table 1: Conditions for Chroi	natography			
Start Time (s)	Duration (s)	Gradient Type	Flow Rate (mL/min)	Mobile Phase B (%)
0	20	step	0.5	25
20	130	linear ramp	0.5	70
150	30	step	0.5	66
180	40	step	0.5	25
The mobile phase was directed both with 0.10 formic acid and 3 Selective Reaction Monitoring	I to the mass spectrometer b 2.0-mmol/L ammonium acet	ietween 42 and 132 s. Mobile ate. Chromatographic separa	e phases were (A) water and ttion was performed at 50°C.	(B) methanol,
Analyte and Corresponding Internal Standard	Precursor (m/z)	Product (m/z)	Collision Energy (V)	RF Lens (V)
Prednisolone	361.3	147.1	25	39
Prednisolone-d8	369.3	150.1	25	39
68-OH-prednisolone-341	377.2 (Quantifier)	341.1	10	32
68-OH-prednisolone-147	377.2 (Qualifier)	147.1	25	39

Dwell time 50 ms. Argon collision gas 1.5 mTorr. Resolution 0.7 Da (full width at half maximum).

 Table 2: CL_{int}^a for substrate depletion of

 prednisolone in rCYP3A4 and rCYP3A5

 microsomes. Data are presented as mean ± SD from

 three independent experiments.

Microsomal preparation	CL _{int}
	µL/min/pmol
rCYP 3A4	0.25 ± 0.03
rCYP 3A5	0.07 ± 0.04

^aCL_{int}; intrinsic clearance



Figure 1: major metabolites of prednisolone





6β-OH-prednisolone reference. Vertical axis: instrument response (counts per second, CPS). Horizontal axis: elution time (min).



model ($C_t = C_0 e^{-kt}$), with a 1/Y weighting using GraphPad Prism version 8.0.1 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA), and presented as mean ± concentration of prednisolone was 0.7 μM in both microsomal preparations. The data of prednisolone are fitted to a mono-exponential decay Figure 3: Substrate depletion curves for prednisolone in A) rCYP3A4 and B) rCYP3A5 microsomes for the time range 0-45 min. The initial SD from three independent experiments.



concentration of prednisolone was 0.7 μM in both microsomal preparations. The data of prednisolone are fitted to a double exponential decay model, using GraphPad Prism version 8.0.1 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA), and presented as mean ± SD from three independent Figure 4: Substrate depletion curves for prednisolone in A) rCVP3A4 and B) rCVP3A5 microsomes for the time range 0-120 min. The initial experiments.



circles). The rCYP3A4 data are fitted to a nonlinear regression (second order polynomial) model, while the rCYP3A5 data are fitted to a linear Figure 5: Formation of 6β-OH-prednisolone in A) rCYP3A4 and B) rCYP3A5 microsomes, after 0-45 min (black circles) and 60-120 min (white regression model. Values are given in prednisolone units (μ M), and presented as mean metabolite formation \pm SD from three independent experiments.